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Definitions

Bx

In this Annual Report, unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expressions shall have the following meanings.

“B2B”
[ B2B |

“B2C”
[ B2C ]

“Board”
-

“CG Code”
[ REAT A

“Companies Ordinance”

INCIRESEN

“Company” or “the
Company”

ZAYNCIN

“Director(s)”

[E %]

“ESG”
[RE - -1HeakEeha]

“Group”
[A&EE ]

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
&%)

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK

dollars” or “HK$”
[ 7]

RAFEHRA  RXEAZBEMEN UWTHEER
B NHHE -

business to business
EHPE

business to customers
SRS

board of Directors

Exw

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

FIIPR EWRAMBECIWEERE AT

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
and supplemented from time to time
EREMNFEE222E(RANED) - BT EFT RER

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability on 13 June 2000 and, except where the context
otherwise requires, all of its subsidiaries, or where the context refers to the time
before it became the holding company thereof, our Company’s present
subsidiaries

REFEBIZERER AR - R2000F6 A13HE B REFAMA L HERR % QA & (B
NESZSBREMNEMBEMBRARN (HMXBHEEKBERAFANNERE) RAAQ A
B I B A A

the director(s) of the Company

ZN/NSTE- =5

environmental, social and governance
RE -HekeEn

the Company and its subsidiaries
EN/NESIDS ) /N]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of Mainland China
B & BRI IT R

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BREEEE
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Definitions (continued)

Bx(E)

“Listing”
[

“Listing Date”

[E A H
“Listing Rules”
[ A8 Al

“Macau”

[HRFT ]

“Mainland China” or “PRC”

(e B A it | 5 [P

“Net Proceeds”
[FT15 s/ IB ) 58 |

“020”
[ 020 |

“Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”

I=AVNGE S 308 e
A&l

“Prospectus”

[ ER]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[AR# |

“SFO”

(78 7 & #1815 B )

“Share(s)”
A% 7 ]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Mty OB SR BT E AR BT

11 May 2018, the date which the Company’s shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares are permitted to commence on
the Stock Exchange

2018F5A11H  RARIRMNE R MW ERB ARG E ZE8 B H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

BRMARIMBERABES LWHRA - ETRER M

the Macau Special Administrative Region of Mainland China

REDRPFIERIITER R

the People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purpose of this Annual Report,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARLANE  RAFHEMS  TEEEE RFIREE

the net proceeds from the issuance of the Shares in connection with the Listing
#b T E TR B BT 1S SR R R

online to offline

mLEHGT

the pre-IPO share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 15
December 2017, details of which are set forth in Note 28 to the financial
statements

RRABR2017F12A15B B R ERMAN B R ARBERIBRETS - FHEHREY
T ¥ Mt 5228

prospectus of the Company dated 30 April 2018
RAFHER2018F4A30R 2 MR E R

Renminbi, the lawful currency of Mainland China

AR FBEEEEE
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended and supplemented from time to time

BREPIESNEEZ LE R (B TRKERT RfRx)

ordinary share(s) in the capital of our Company with a par value of HK$0.10 each
RNRABIR A G REEC.10/E JT#Y & i AR
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Definitions (continued)

Bx(E)

“Share Option Scheme”

the share option scheme conditionally approved and adopted by the Company on

15 December 2017, details of which are set forth in Note 28 to the financial

statements
[BE A w1 31
28

“Share Option Schemes”
[ZEBREE

“Shareholders”

(AR

holder(s) of Shares
EGES TSN

“Stock Exchange”
B 32 P EEBMARIMARRAR

In this Annual Report, the terms “associate”, “connected
person”, “connected transaction”, “controlling shareholder”,
“subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder” shall have the
meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules, unless the

context otherwise requires.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this Annual
Report have been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures preceding them.

The English translation of Mainland China entities, enterprises,
nationals, facilities, regulations in Chinese or another language
included in this Annual Report is for identification purposes
only. To the extent there is any inconsistency between the
Chinese names of Mainland China entities, enterprises,
nationals, facilities, regulations and their English translations,
the Chinese names shall prevail.

*  For identification purposes only

4 Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

KARR2017F12 158 BI&H L E R R AR BB ERT S -

EACE N EE]

the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Scheme
BRARESH B S R B R E

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

RARFERA  BXEZBAEN  [BEAL
(REAL] TBERS] - [EERRR] - T8
RAIRTEEZRRIFFAZH AR £ B
THEARNRE -

REHZMENETERLADLBRFENREL
MERARAE - Fih - T RBAMRHLE
AHFRLRELABFOEMAM -

REFABAPXHEMBEXDRNTEE
B0X BR REOERHEEFEMR
Al HAEEE X BR - Rig&EAR
MR ERERRYBETE TR - #i)
R BT SE
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STOCK CODE
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Chairman's Statement

ETEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Tsit Wing International
Holdings Limited, | hereby present to you the Company’s
annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

The past year presented challenges for the catering industry, as
the business environment was not optimal. The COVID-19
pandemic led to significant changes in the lifestyle and dining
habits of Hong Kong Additionally, the growing
post-pandemic travel enthusiasm resulted in a surge of Hong
Kong residents’ cross border spending. In spite of all the
challenges, according to provisional data from the Census and
Statistics Department, the overall revenue of the Hong Kong
in 2023 has recovered to 97% of its
pre-pandemic level. In this context, | am heartened to report
that, with the dedication and efforts of our staff, the Group’s
business in Hong Kong achieved an 7.2% growth in sales
revenue in 2023, recovering to 98.7% of its pre-pandemic level
which is in line with the industry recovery from 2019.

residents.

restaurant sector

The market conditions in the PRC remained challenging, with a
gradual economic recovery leading to reduced consumer
spending. Against this backdrop, the business of the Group in
the PRC faced constraints and uncertainties, resulting in a
lacklustre performance. To address these challenges, the
Group proactively implemented a series of enhancement
initiatives including but not limited to cost control, streamlining
the production process, and optimizing the production system
with a view to increase operational efficiency. The Group has
also engaged external advisor to evaluate the operational
workflow in its China operation and upgrading the SAP system
to strengthen overall profitability. All these initiatives were made
to strengthen the Group’s operation in the PRC preparing itself
to take on new challenges ahead and building a stronger
foundation of its PRC operation in the long run.

BALRIR

AANERRBELEBBERERRAIEETS
M ETNE2MARQAFEZ2023F12 8318 1E&
BREENFR -

RBEELITEHBRRBKSES KCERBETEA
ECOVID- 19 BB AMEETREREE
RE MREBBE  BAXENBRRERDLIMNE
o FEEREBAE REMBUEERR - E
BERNGTENGRREE  SEERENE
BE R E TP 2023 F BI1E BI& AT K FHI97% ©
EHESET AARREMH BREZEBLCH
THRES ) - AREBE B E R H2023F /) $H & IR
w I B72%E KB B E B & A KFH
98.7% * FAITEHEH20190F AL MERR o

FEREEEREE RRBLHE MBHRE
MABHE -HFUBERT AKREPEEXBER
M N ERTSRRE - RIBERWIER - SEY
BB AEEBEGEE - ERNEEE 21
BARRRAARES BEEERENRBICLEE
BE UHREAZERX - AEETREING
BREGTEEBHNLERRE  LARSAPE
BARTTERAMES - NEBHEB B LiE
MR E R BIRR  Mer EEDEOR RS - B
TEEXBHNREERETER -

T CFFH RRBERERBRAE 7



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

ETREHE(HE)

TOWARDS THE FUTURE

Looking ahead, the Group will maintain a prudent approach
while actively capturing business opportunities to achieve
improved financial performance in the coming year. The Group
remains steadfast in its commitment to its long-term business
plan in both Hong Kong and the PRC, with a strong focus on
sustainable development of the Group and value creation for its
Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

As a token of appreciation for your support to the Group which
is celebrating its establishment for over 90 years, a special
dividend of HK13.87 cents per ordinary share totalling
approximately HK$100,000,000 have been paid on 11 March
2024.

| would like to take this opportunity to convey my gratitude to
all staff members for their unwavering commitment, dedication,
and valuable contribution. | would also like to extend my
heartfelt appreciation business partners and
Shareholders for their unfailing support. With confidence, | look
forward to the Group’s prospects and its ability to accomplish
exceptional milestones in the years to come.

to our

Wong Tat Tong
Chairman
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEBTWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite a challenging market environment for the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group has achieved growth in sales
revenue in the Hong Kong market, as well as a nearly full
recovery from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Such
encouraging performance signifies the sound position of the
Group in the Hong Kong market.

In respect of the Group’s business in the PRC, its performance
is underwhelming as a result of a slower-than-expected
economic recovery and an apparent reduction in consumer
spending. To tackle the constraints and uncertainties the
Group’s business faced in the PRC, the Group implemented
various enhancement initiatives focused on cost control,
streamlining the production process, and optimizing the
production system with the objective of improving operational
efficiency.

Under the global economic environment, the commodity prices
of raw materials have been inevitably volatile. The rise in the
price of coffee beans continued to affect the gross profit of the
Group, despite the commodity hedging taken and stringent
cost control implemented by the Group.

EKEE
BEHZE2023F12A31HIEFEMMHRER
WKE  BEASEEEEMBNHEERADE
W R WHEEBHCOVID-19F 5N E1% i
ZHER BUHELEXRE ETIHAEEESE
BMIEHNHAIETER -

ERAEEETFENES BREEEREE
REMEE  MEBEEEEERBRD Bt
RE KRBT o 3 M8 B AN 55 18 o B 5 7% P e b
MR S TR R AREHET T ZRAE
Bt TERMREHRA BHEERER
BlEEERS  WMBEEERE -

E2REERRET  BRMHEREBHERLHIR
KB o B N B B BREN R ah $ O 4 i B AR
EHIRA - BEMBEEER DRIDFEZEARE
BrER -

T CFFH RRBERERBRAE 9



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EERENWR DN (&)

REVENUE A

The table below sets forth the Group’s revenue categorised by &R & & Z220234F K2022F 12 A31H [FFE
business segments for the years ended 31 December 2023 IREF DB DHAEB KA :

and 2022:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2022

20224
(HK$’000) % of total
(F#x) HREa L

Beverage Solutions BHR B RIS 717,431 98.4% 680,019 97.7%
Food Products B 11,499 1.6% 15,919 2.3%
Total @t 728,930 100% 695,938 100%

The table below sets forth the Group’s revenue categorised by K& &7l #H £20234F N2022F 12318 It FE
geographical location for the years ended 31 December 2023 1% IR i1 B 2| 5 By AN £ B UL A -
and 2022:

Year ended 31 December
B Z12A31BH L E

2022
20224F

(HK$’000) % of total

(FE&L) HRBAESL

Hong Kong B 492,303 67.5% 459,210 66.0%
Mainland China R B K B 219,344 30.1% 224,201 32.2%
Others Hin 17,283 2.4% 12,527 1.8%
Total st 728,930 100% 695,938 100%

Note: Others include revenue derived from sales in the United States, FMi&sE : B BIEREERE BN - X B 5
VAN =

Australia, Canada, Macau, Malaysia, Guam, Singapore and KAD S FMEREEHESHKA -
Taiwan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EERENWR DN (&)

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT
MARGIN

The table below sets forth the Group’s gross profit of each of
the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022:

EMRERNR

TREHE E20234F K2022F12 A31H IEFE
AEESEBEDBOAREBEF -

Year ended 31 December
B ZE12A31BLLEE

2022

20224
(HK$’000) % of total
(F#&x) HREESL

Beverage Solutions BHRRE RS 239,136 99.4% 233,775 99.6%
Food Products B 1,417 0.6% 987 0.4%
Total st 240,553 100% 234,762 100%

The table below sets forth the Group’s gross profit margin of
each of the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022:

TREHE E20234F K2022F12 A31H ILFE
AEESEBEDBHNARNERFEF X -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022
20224
Beverage Solutions BHREKEIBR T 33.3% 34.4%
Food Products B i 12.3% 6.2%
Total et 33.0% 33.7%

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
total revenue of HK$728.9 million, representing an increase of
HK$33.0 million, or 4.7%, compared to the year ended 31
December 2022. The increase in revenue was primarily
attributable to the increase in revenue derived from beverage
solutions business in Hong Kong. Gross profit for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to HK$240.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$5.8 million, or 2.5%, compared
to the year ended 31 December 2022. Gross profit margin
slightly decreased from 33.7% for the year ended 31
December 2022 to 33.0% for the year ended 31 December
2023.

B E2023F12H31HIEFE - AEEH BRI
A728.98 & B T - WA £2022612H318 1E
FIEIEING3.0B BB T4 7% WAL INTY =
EHREAERKRERBEBEENRALE
e # £2023F12A31A L FENEF B
240.68 BB T - A £2022F 12318 I F
EH M8 BB TH25% - EFEHEZR
2022F 12 A31H L FEKB3. 7% B TR EH
Z2023F12A31H |F FE#33.0% °

TTOCFF BREABERERAR 11



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESWmR DT (&)

Beverage solutions

The Group provides a one-stop service for its commercial
customers that covers marketing analysis, recipe development,
sourcing, production, marketing and after sales services which
include regular customer training and equipment maintenance.
Such services are provided through the Group’s five
operational modules, which include () menu management and
recipe development, (i) strong global sourcing network, (iii)
automated product execution, (iv) sophisticated distribution
system for diverse customers, and (v) comprehensive customer
services.

Revenue from the beverage solutions segment increased by
HK$37.4 million, or 5.5%, from HK$680.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to HK$717.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The increase was primarily due to
the increase in revenue derived from the Group’s coffee and
tea products which was mainly the result of an increase in
sales volume of these products arising from the resumption of
normalcy in Hong Kong and in the PRC after the COVID-19
pandemic. Gross profit increase by HK$5.3 million, or 2.3%,
from HK$233.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to HK$239.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly in line with the increase in revenue. Gross profit margin
of the beverage solutions business decreased from 34.4% for
the year ended 31 December 2022 to 33.3% for the year
ended 31 December 2023, primarily because of the increase in
raw material costs for beverage solutions products.

Food products

The Group offers frozen food to renowned brands and its own
frozen food brand “Papa Chef” under “original equipment
manufacturer” (OEM) arrangement.

Revenue from the food products segment decreased by
HK$4.4 million, or 27.7%, from HK$15.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to HK$11.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily
because of the decrease in revenue derived from Hong Kong.
However, the gross profit increased by HK$0.4 million or 40%
from HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
HK$1.4 milion for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
gross profit margin increased from 6.3% for the year ended
31 December 2022 to 12.2% for the year ended 31 December
2023, primarily due to increase in sales of frozen processed
food products with higher gross profit margin and decrease in
sales of frozen meat products with lower gross profit margin.
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BHREIRE o 5 a9 A &L =2022F 12 A 31
H I FE/680.06 &8 L IN37.48 B Tk
5.5%% & £2023F12A31H It FEM717.48
EAT - ZEMNDEERRAEBEMUERERE
MEEMNKAEBMN- KB ETEABR
COVID-19Z B R BB A RPEAANMEST
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12A31H It FEH233.8F & B L IN5.3H 8
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESNWR DT (&)

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS
Hong Kong

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue generated in
Hong Kong increased by HK$33.1 million, or 7.2%, from
HK$459.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
HK$492.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
increase in revenue generated in Hong Kong was primarily
because of the increase in sales of coffee, tea and milk
products as a result of an increase in customers’ demand.

Mainland China

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue generated in
Mainland China decreased by HK$4.9 million, or 2.2%, from
HK$224.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
HK$219.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
decrease in revenue was primarily due to the decrease in the
sales volume of tea products.

Others

In addition, the Group also sells a small
products to Macau and other overseas regions including the
United States, Australia, Canada, Malaysia, Guam, Singapore
and Taiwan through distributors. For the year ended
31 December 2023, revenue generated in other markets
increased by HK$4.8 million, or 38.4%, from HK$12.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to HK$17.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in revenue
was primarily as a result of the partial recovery of the overall
economy from the COVID-19 pandemic.

portion of our

BUSINESS PROSPECT

The business environment is expected to present challenges,
notably due to the increasing post-pandemic travel enthusiasm
and the consequential surge in cross-border spending.
Furthermore, apparent market uncertainties in the PRC have
added to the complexities faced by the Group.

B BENEE D HUWA

B8

B E2023F12H31HIEFE - RBEBELEMNIK
A H & £2022F12 A31H IF F E H450.28 &
BT IN83.1H &8 T k7.2% 2 & £2023512
AB1H L FEMIRIEEB T REBEL
R ASE N Ty E B HRAMBE - XRDB\ERD
HERTP R REMMmMES °

R At

B Z2023F12H31HIEFE - RHPBIAMES
B U A B A 2022612 A31H IE F & #224.2
BEAETEL49AEETH2.2%E & £2023
F12A318 It FEM219.38 B8 7T - WAR
DHETEHRRERHHEERD

Hth

AN REB BB HEERK N ERBEE
BB REMGINEE - BIEEE RN - 0
EX BXRET -BES FMEEReE HE
2023F12HA31B IEFE - RAEMTISE £/
ABEZ2022F12A31H I FEMI1258 88
TLIE 4.8 F B 8 7T 538.4% = & 22023412 A
SIHLEFEMI7TIEESA L - AN EE
R LEBCOVID-19Z151B%& BEPIKE

EBA=

EAHERREHTMAE  CEHRBNEIEBE
& FRAESMNEE 20 E - T EN IS OH B R IE o o
EhEmSRENTAREZTEAEER
HHBERERER-
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESWmR DT (&)

Nonetheless, the Group is optimistic about a full recovery from
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. By adjusting the
Group’s business strategies to adhere to its long-term business
plans in Hong Kong and the PRC with agility and leveraging its
comprehensive customer network, the Group is poised to
enhance profitability and achieve improved financial
performance in the coming year while navigating challenges it
may face effectively.

The Group will continue to closely monitor the market trends
and actively respond to the evolving post-pandemic lifestyle
and dining habits, which will continue to be integral to the
Group’s success. As a result of the series of enhancement
initiatives the Group implemented and the engagement of an
in the hopes of increasing operational
efficiency, the Group is confident in its ability to capitalise on
emerging opportunities.

external advisor

DEVELOPMENT OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

There was no deregistration of subsidiary, no material
acquisition or disposable of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by HK$33.0 million, or 4.7%,
from HK$695.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to HK$728.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The increase was primarily due to the increase in demand from
the customers of the Group for its products as a result from
the resumption of normalcy after the COVID-19 pandemic,
which resulted in the increase in sales volume of the products
of the Group.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by HK$27.2 million, or
5.9%, from HK$461.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to HK$488.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The increase in the cost of sales was primarily as a
result of the increase in raw material costs for the beverage
solutions products, which in turn was caused by the increase
in overall sales volume.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESNWR DT (&)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by HK$5.8 million, or 2.5%,
from HK$234.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to HK$240.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Group’s gross profit margin slightly decreased from 33.7%
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 33.0% for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Other Income and Gains, Net

The Group’s other income and gains, net decreased by
HK$5.4 million from HK$11.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to HK$5.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease was primarily due to no
government subsidies were granted under the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region during the year ended 31 December
2023.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses decreased by
HK$1.6 million, or 1.5%, from HK$104.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to HK$102.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the decrease in (i)
marketing and promotion expenses, and (ii) staff costs, which
was attributable to the diligent cost control
maintained by us.

measures

General and Administrative Expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses remained
stable and only slightly increased by HK$0.1 million, or 0.1%,
from HK$79.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
HK$79.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Other Expenses, Net

The Group’s other expenses, net increased by HK$0.1 million,
or 2.4% from HK$4.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to HK$4.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The slight increase was primarily a result of the losses on
foreign exchange.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESWmR DT (&)

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs slightly increased by HK$0.1 million,
or 11.1%, from HK$0.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increment was primarily the result of the
increase in average interest rate on bank borrowings.

Income Tax Expense

The Group’s income tax expense increased by HK$0.5 million,
or 5.1%, from HK$9.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to HK$10.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, mainly due to the increase in profit before tax. The
Group’s effective income tax rate slightly increased from 17.1%
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 17.5% for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Profit For The Year and Net Profit Margin

The Group’s profit for the year increased by HK$1.3 million, or
2.7%, from HK$47.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to HK$48.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2028. The Group’s net profit margin slightly decreased from
6.8% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 6.7% for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Capital Expenditure and Commitments

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
additions of property, plant and equipment of HK$30.8 million
(2022: HK$66.4 million). A substantial portion of the Group’s
capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
incurred in relation to the capital expenditure on (i) purchase of
coffee and tea machines which were leased to the Group’s
customers, (ii) production machineries, and (iii) enhancement of
facilities.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments
of HK$3.9 million (2022: HK$14.2 million), mainly comprising
the amounts related to contracts of capital expenditure in
production machineries.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total interest-bearing
bank borrowings of HK$7.1 million (2022: HK$10.6 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESNWR DT (&)

Net Current Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net current assets were
HK$391.5 million, representing an increase of HK$16.9 million
as compared with net current assets of HK$374.6 million as at
31 December 2022. The increase in net current assets was
mainly attributable to increase in trade receivables and cash
and cash equivalents.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$253.8 million
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$189.8 million). The Board
is of the opinion that the financial position of the Group is
robust and the Group has sufficient resources to support its
operations and meet its foreseeable capital expenditures.

Capital Structure
As at 31 December 2023, the capital structure of the Group
comprised issued capital and reserves.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

The Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets for the forthcoming year.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

The Group did not have material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the vyear
ended 31 December 2023.

Contingent Liabilities
Saved as disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements
below, there were no other contingent liabilities.

Litigation Matter

In April 2020, the Group filed a legal action against a third
party in the PRC for infringement of trademark and improper
competition. In July 2022, the Group received a favourable
judgement from the People’s Court of Shanghai Pudong New
Area, the PRC. Up to the date of this Annual Report, the third
party filed a petition for appeal against the first instance
judgement, and the appeal is still pending.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESWmR DT (&)

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, on the basis of total interest-bearing
bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the
parent, the Group’s gearing ratio was 1.2% (2022: 1.8%). The
decrease in gearing ratio was mainly due to a decrease in the
outstanding balance of interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group has transactional Such
exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional currencies.
The majority of the Group’s foreign currency purchase
transactions are denominated in the United States dollars. On
the other hand, the Group’s sales are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management is closely
monitoring foreign exchange exposures of the Group. The
Group will consider adopting a foreign currency hedging policy
for significant foreign currency exposures should the need
arise.

currency exposures.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings with floating interest rate. The Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk should the need arise.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
limited.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents and financial
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables arises
from the default of the counterparties, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

assets
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESNWR DT (&)

Liquidity Risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms. In
the management of liquidity risk, the Group has been
maintaining a cash pooling system where excess liquidity is
equalised internally through inter-group accounts. Depending
on the specific requirements of each funding agreement,
funding for the Group’s operating companies may be sourced
directly from the Group’s bankers or indirectly through the
Company.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING
The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on the Listing Date. After the full exercise of the
Over-allotment Option (as defined in the Prospectus) and after
deducting underwriting commissions and all related expenses,
the Net Proceeds amounted to HK$232.6 million.

As announced on 4 March 2021, in light of the change in the
market and economic condition with the uncertainty in the
economic recovery in Southeast Asia, the Board has resolved
to revise the use of unutilised Net Proceeds from allocating the
Net Proceeds originally designated for expansion into Southeast
Asia to (i) the strengthening of business portfolio; and (ii)
general working capital. The Board is of the view that the
change in the use of Net Proceeds would allow the Group to
utilise its financial resources in a more beneficial and effective
way.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EEESWmR DT (&)

The original allocation of the Net Proceeds, the remaining FTERIEFEMERTE DA - H2023F1 418K
balance as at 1 January 2023, the utilisation of the Net # % * F92023%F1 31 H £2023F12A31H -
Proceeds during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 MRS RBEFENGEHBN « 1H2023F12 7
December 2023, the unutilised Net Proceeds as at 31 31HMKTHEFMERBIZENLTHE S
December 2023 and the expected timeline for the utilisation of FIEFFE 2 FEHBMRL T ¢

the remaining Net Proceeds are as follows:

Unutilised
Remaining Utilisation amount as at
Original balance as at during the 31 December  Expected timeline for utilising the
allocation 1 January 2023 period 2023 remaining Net Proceeds
R20235 R20235
1A1B#M BER 12A31BH HABTHEHNE
REAE & ERER AEASE FHEZEERBER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
Strengthen business portfolio 93,044 - - -  NA
mExKES TER
Capital investments of machineries 46,522 - - -  NA
and equipment
BERIENELRE TER
Expansion into Southeast Asia 23,261 - - -  NA
BREREE TER
Product customisation and 23,261 11,117 (11,117 - NA
development
EnT@t kA TEm
Support sales and marketing 23,261 - - -  NA
XHHEEREH TEm
General working capital 23,261 - - -  NA
~HEEES Jili
Total 232,610 11,117 (11,117) -
mEt

Save as disclosed above, the Group has applied the Net B EXFIHFEEI  REBDIZLRTFEENT
Proceeds according to plans as previously disclosed. The EZIAMEHRIEFH AEECREIHES
Group had fully utilised the Net Proceeds as at 31 December 2023%F12A31H M FTISFNIE F58 -

2023.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERGAREEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Wong Tat Tong (E#Z E), aged 70, has been a Director since
6 July 2000 and was redesignated as an executive Director on
4 September 2017. He is the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive
Officer”). He is primarily responsible for managing and
formulating overall strategic planning and development of the
Group. Mr. Wong has joined the Group for over 40 years since
May 1978. Mr. Wong is a director of several major operating
subsidiaries of the Group and also a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. Being responsible for the day-to-day management
and overall strategic planning and development of the Group,
Mr. Wong has been playing an important role in the Group’s
development and growth over the past 40 years.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in accounting from the Hong
Kong Baptist College (presently known as the Hong Kong
Baptist University). He is the Permanent Honorary President of
the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the Permanent
Honorary President of The Hong Kong and Kowloon Provisions,
Wine & Spirit Dealers’ Association Limited, a member and a
director of the committee of The Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce and the representative of Tsit Wing Coffee
Company, Limited’s membership in The Hong Kong Chinese
Importers’ and Exporters’ Association.

Fan Yee Man (2##8), aged 43, was appointed as an
executive Director on 4 September 2017. Ms. Fan is the group
chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”). She joined the Group in 2012 and
is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall financial
position and accounting matters, information system, and
operation control of the Group. Ms. Fan is a director of several
major operating subsidiaries of the Group. She is also the
company secretary of all of the Group’s subsidiaries which are
incorporated in Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management (continued)

EERGEREERE(F)

Ms. Fan has 20 years of experience in finance and accounting
management. Ms. Fan obtained a bachelor of business
administration (honours) in accountancy from the City University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Fan is a member and a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified
Public Accountant certified by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Kam Chun Pong Bernard (£ #& #8), aged 67, was appointed
as an executive Director with effect from 4 May 2021. He is
the Head of Group Strategic Planning & Business Development
with effect from 1 July 2023. He has been working for the
Group for more than nine years and is primarily responsible for
the Group’s business strategy and planning, coordinating and
overseeing all marketing affairs of the Group and the Group’s
B2C business. Mr. Kam has more than 30 years of experience
in marketing, sales management, and business development in
both the fast-moving consumer products and the food service
industries. Mr. Kam obtained a Higher Diploma in business
studies from Hong Kong Polytechnic (presently known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and a Diploma in Marketing from
the Institute of Marketing (United Kingdom). He also completed
a ten-week international general management program, namely
Program for Executive Development (P.E.D.) at the International
Institute for Management Development (IMD) in Switzerland. Mr.
Kam is a director of several major operating subsidiaries of the
Group.
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Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Timothy John Collins, aged 55, was appointed as a
non-executive Director with effect from 14 June 2023.
Mr. Collins has over 25 years of experience in the fast-moving
consumer goods and healthcare industries. He has been the
chief executive director of DCH Auriga Healthcare and
Integrated Market Services Asia — Southeast Asia region. He
has also been the head of DCH Logistics and DCH Foods in
Mainland China since November 2023. He joined Li and Fung
Asia (“LF Asia”) in 2004 and had been essential to LF Asia’s
development, leading the expansion of market coverage across
Asia and orchestrating the acquisition of LF Asia by Dah Chong
Hong Holdings Limited (“DCH Group”) in June 2016.
Post-acquisition he has overseen the integration of LF Asia and
the rebranding of the DCH Auriga healthcare platform
independent from the DCH Foods platform. Prior to joining the
DCH Group, Mr. Collins was the general manager (Hong Kong
and Taiwan) from 2000 to 2003, the sales and marketing
director (Indonesia) from 1998 to 2000, and took other various
roles from 1991 to 1997 at Cadbury Schweppes Ltd.
Mr. Collins is a member of the Hong Kong Supplier Association
and Global Standards 1 and a member of the Advisory Board
for the Asian Institute of Supply Chains & Logistics, The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Collins completed
various courses including the leadership program of MIT Sloan
School of Management in July 2010.

Mr. Lee Tak Wah (Zf&Z %) aged 59, was appointed as a
non-executive Director with effect from 14 June 2023. Mr. Li
has over 20 years of experience in corporate and business
management. He has been the executive director and head of
new retail, motor & yacht of DCH Group since January 2023,
where he is responsible for overseeing the motor and yacht
business operation and development. Mr. Lee has joined the
DCH Group since June 1999 and has held various senior
positions within the DCH Group. Mr. Lee obtained a Bachelor
of Engineering (Mechanical Engineering) from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in November 1987, and received a
Master of Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 1996.
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Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Tang Kwai Chang (& ¥), aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 December 2017. He
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tang has over 40 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and audit risk management. Mr. Tang obtained a
diploma in accounting from the Hong Kong Baptist College
(presently known as Hong Kong Baptist University). He is a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, an honorary member of the Court of Hong Kong
Baptist University and a convenor of Financial Reporting Review
Panel of the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council. Mr.
Tang was conferred with the Honorary University Fellowship by
the Hong Kong Baptist University in September 2017.

Mr. Tang is currently an independent non-executive director of
HKR International Limited (stock code: 480), a company
engaging in property development and investment and FIT Hon
Teng Limited (stock code: 6088), a company engaging in the
development and production of interconnect solutions and
related products.

Wong Man Fai (E X #), aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 15 December 2017. He
is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong
has over 30 years of experience in the insurance industry. Mr.
Wong obtained his bachelor of science and master of business
administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent non-executive

director of Starr International Insurance (Asia) Limited, a private
company engaging in insurance business, in October 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Lok Kung Chin Hardy (B #51E), aged 74, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2020.
He is a member of Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee. Mr. Lok graduated in Civil Engineering from the
University of Manchester Institute of Science & Technology. He
is a member of both the Institution of Civil Engineers and the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Mr. Lok is the
Chairman of The Sun Company, Limited and has over 50 years
of experience in building and engineering construction work.
Mr. Lok has been an independent non-executive director of
Kowloon Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 00034)
since January 2002.

Save as disclosed herein, there are no other matters
concerning the Directors that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders nor is there any other information
relating to the Directors that is required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chiu Kar Kid (# X #t), aged 54, is the chief operating officer
of China and is primarily responsible for formulating the
Group’s operation and strategies in the PRC, B2B sales and
B2C sales. He joined the Group in December 2020 as general
manager — Mainland China and was promoted to his current
position on 1 March 2023. He has over 25 years of experience
in engineering, plant and general management. Prior to joining
the Group, he served as the general manager of Amoral Metal
Production Company, Limited from March 2011 to May 2012.
He worked at Dongguan Rex Packaging Company Limited from
May 2012 to November 2020, with his last position as China
Country Head, General Manager. He received a master degree
of science in engineering business management from The
University of Warwick in 1999, a master degree of business
administration in strategic marketing from The University of Hull
in 2005 and a master degree of science in engineering
research studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
2021.
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Directors and Senior Management (continued)
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Cheung Chi Hang Alan (R&1E), aged 50, is the group
operating officer — sales. He joined the Group in July 2021.
He is primarily responsible for formulating and overseeing
overall sales strategies and activities in B2B market in Hong
Kong, Macau and overseas. He has over 20 years of
experience in sales and marketing in food service. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked at Ecolab Limited from April 1999
to July 2021, with his last position as Field Director,
Institutional, Hong Kong and Mainland China. He received a
bachelor degree of science in chemical technology from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1995 and a professional
diploma in marketing management from the Hong Kong
Management Association in 1998.

Hau Ka Wai (1R &% £), aged 47, is the group operating officer
— human resources & administration. She joined the Group
from 2007 to 2017 and recently rejoined in 2020, and
oversees the human resources and administration department.
She is mainly responsible for corporate social responsibility and
overall human resources strategy planning. Ms. Hau has over
20 years of experience in human resources. Ms. Hau obtained
a Bachelor of Business from Holmes Institute.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Fan Yee Man (¥#&#8), aged 43, was appointed as the
Company Secretary effected on 4 May 2021. Save for her
duties as an executive Director as disclosed above, she is also
responsible for facilitating the procedures/activities of the Board
and the Board committees as well as good communication
flow amongst the Board members, Shareholders and senior
management of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRSE

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is firmly committed to a high level of corporate
governance and adherence to the governance principles and
practices emphasising transparency, independence,
accountability, responsibility and fairness. These principles and
practices are reviewed and revised regularly as appropriate to
reflect the ever changing regulatory requirements and corporate
governance development. The Board believes that the high
standards of corporate governance is the essential core for
sustaining the Group’s long term performance and value
creation for our Shareholders, the investing public and the
other stakeholders.

The Company also recognises the importance of integrity,
ethical conduct, and responsible business practices, which are
instilled and continually reinforced across the Group. The
Company’s culture and values of acting lawfully, ethically, and
responsibly are integral to its operations, long-term growth and
sustainability and is essential to its success.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values,
and strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Company’s
culture is aligned. By acting with integrity and leading by
example, the Directors will further and continue to promote the
desired culture within the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has, throughout the year ended 31 December
20283, complied with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code (to the extent such provisions are applicable), except for
code provision C.2.1 which states that the roles of chairman
and chief executives should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Related details are set out in
the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”
below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The general management of the Company’s business is vested
in the Board. The Board has established various committees to
manage and oversee the specified affairs of the Company. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management power of the
Company to the executive Directors and senior management of
the Company. However, full delegation is not allowed for some
specific matters under the Companies Ordinance, the Listing
Rules, the CG Code or other regulatory requirements, and the
final decisions on those specific matters are required to be
taken by the whole board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board strives to achieve high standards of corporate
governance practices as well as the Company’s mission to
creating value for our Shareholders. The Board is responsible
for developing the strategic directions for the Company and
continuous monitoring of the performance of the general
management of the Company. Strategic planning is one of the
Board’s important functions for aligning mission and vision and
a lot of focus and attention have been devoted to such a plan.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out below:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

3.  review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4., develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Board has performed above duties during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board composition

Currently, our Board comprises eight directors, including three
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The current composition
of our Board is as follows:

Membership of board

Name of Director committee(s)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tat Tong
(Chairman & Chief
Executive Officer)

Ms. Fan Yee Man

Mr. Kam Chun Pong
Bernard

Chairman of Nomination Committee
Member of Remuneration
Committee

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Timothy John Collins
Mr. Lee Tak Wah

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Kwai Chang Chairman of Audit Committee

Member of Remuneration
Committee

Member of Audit Committee

Chairman of Remuneration
Committee

Member of Nomination Committee

Member of Audit Committee

Member of Nomination Committee

Mr. Wong Man Fai

Mr. Lok Kung Chin
Hardy

The designation, position and brief biographical information of
each Director, together with the relationship amongst each
other, senior management of the Company or substantial or
controlling Shareholder are set out in the “Directors and Senior
Management” section in this Annual Report. In addition, a list
containing the names of the Directors and their roles and
functions is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company at www.twcoffee.com.

The independent non-executive Directors represent three out of
eight of the Board which exceeds the Listing Rules requirement
for one-third. In compliance with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules, the Board has appointed an independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board composition (Continued)

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board, through the Nomination Committee, has assessed and
considered that all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company recognises that independence of the Board is a
key element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited to
entitling the Directors and members of the Board committees
to seek independent professional advice on matters relating to
the Company where appropriate at the Company’s expense, to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board.
These mechanisms in place are subject to annual review by the
Board that underpins a strong independent Board.

Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective delivery of the Board functions.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy to set out the
objectives and the factors to be considered for achieving the
diversity of the Board in May 2018 and it has been reviewed by
the Board on an annual basis. The Board Diversity Policy has
been published on the Company’s website.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, when reviewing the
composition of the Board and considering the nomination of
new Directors, the Nomination Committee will, by referring to
the business model of the Group and specific needs from time

to time, take into account a number of factors, including
gender, age, cultural and educational background or
professional experience, skills, regional and industry

experience, background, race and other qualities, etc.

The Board comprises one female member who is an executive
Director and also the chief financial officer and the company
secretary of the Company. Having considered the overall Board
composition and the business needs of the Group, it is of the
view that gender diversity has been achieved in respect of the
Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD DIVERSITY (Continued)

The Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness
of the Board by maintaining the highest standards of corporate
governance and recognising and embracing the benefits of
diversity in the boardroom. Board appointments will continue to
be made on a merit basis and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board. The following chart shows the diversity profile of the
Board as at 31 December 2023:
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As at 31 December 2023, the ratio of male and female in the
workforce (including the executive Directors and senior
management) is 58% and 42%, respectively. The total gender
diversity of the Group is balanced, and the Group will continue
to maintain the gender diversity in the workforce.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong Tat
Tong is currently the chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer, responsible for formulating the overall
business development strategy and planning of the Group. In
view of Mr. Wong having been responsible for the overall
management of the Group since 1978, the Board believes that
it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Wong taking
up both effective  management and business
development. The Board considers that the balance of power
and authority, accountability and independent decision-making
under the present arrangement will not be impaired because of
the diverse background and experience of the three
independent non-executive Directors. Further, the Audit
Committee has free and direct access to the Company’s
external auditor and independent professional advisers when it
considers necessary. Therefore, the Board considers that the
deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate in such circumstance. Except for the deviation from
the said CG Code Provision C.2.1, the Group’s corporate
governance practices have complied with the CG Code (to the
extent such provisions are applicable) during the year ended 31
December 2023.

roles for

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

The Board met six times, four of which were held in-person
and the remaining two via teleconference, in the financial year
of 2023. Various matters such as overall business plans,
financial and operating performance of the Group, audit
planning, budget, the financial reports, ESG
developments and corporate governance related policies and
practices for the Group have been discussed, reviewed and
approved (where applicable) during the meetings. Notice of at
least 14 days was given to all Directors for regular Board
meetings in order to give them an opportunity to attend. For
other Board meetings, notice was given in a reasonable time in
advance.

annual
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BOARD PROCEEDINGS (Continued)

All' Directors have full and timely access to all
information in relation to the Company. There are established
procedures for Directors to seek independent professional
advice for them to discharge their duties and responsibilities,
where appropriate, at the Company’s expenses.

relevant

During the year, Directors have made active participation in the
Board meetings and Board committees meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings and all other committee
meetings recorded the matters considered by the Board or the
committees (as the case may be) in sufficient details. All the
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are available
upon prior appointment for inspection by any Directors,
auditors or any relevant eligible parties who are entitled to have
access to such information.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, an
Audit Committee and a Nomination Committee with specific
terms of reference.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

Membership of Remuneration

Name of Director Committee

Executive Director:

Mr. Wong Tat Tong
(Chairman & Chief
Executive Officer)

Member of Remuneration
Committee

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Kwai Chang Member of Remuneration
Committee

Chairman of Remuneration
Committee

Mr. Wong Man Fai

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient including the advice of independent
professional firms, if necessary, to discharge its duties.

resources,

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible to consider
and approve the remuneration packages of Directors and
senior management of the Group, including salaries, benefits in
kind and bonuses; bonus schemes and other long-term
incentive schemes, including share option and other plans with
reference to the relevant remuneration policy which takes into
account, amongst others, the salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company and its
subsidiaries and the respective corporate and individual
performance.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings, all in-
person, in the financial year of 2023. Each member’s
attendance record during the year is shown on page 40 of this
Annual Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Summary of work done during and for the financial year

of 2023

o Reviewed the remuneration policies of the Group, namely
KPI Policy, Performance Management Policy,

Review Policy and Annual Performance Policy;

Reviewed the Directors’ fee for the year ended 31

December 2023;

Reviewed the updated organization chart of the Group;

Reviewed the remuneration package of the key
management of the Group; and

Reviewed the bonus scheme of the Group.

The members of the Remuneration Committee have discussed

the

above matters during the meetings and made

recommendations to the Board for approval.

EEFZES(A)

FMEEE (&)

RR 20238 B FEZTH B LT IEHE

. % 5 N £2 B 2 H B B 5 0 B RE B 4R AUIE
SR - RIBBEIEHR » HFR TR &

FRERBBR

. B ET#H Z2023F12A31HIEFE &%
W

e REAEEZBRFABEEE

e RIUAKBEEBREEABZHFMIR:
&

s MEAARKEZILAEE -

FHEZEe v KECRESERN LA EER
I (R 2 58 F o S 2 i DA A OfE ©

T CFFH RRBERERBRAE 35



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

N\

TEREREE (E

= )

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee

Name of Director Membership of Audit Committee

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Kwai Chang Chairman of Audit Committee

Mr. Wong Man Fai Member of Audit Committee

Mr. Lok Kung Chin Member of Audit Committee
Hardy

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including
the advice of independent professional firms, if necessary, to
discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and their
audit fees; meeting with the external auditor to discuss the
nature and scope of the audit; reviewing the Company’s
financial statements and interim and annual reports before they
are submitted to the Board; discussing problems and
reservations arising from the interim review and final audit, and
any other matters the external auditor may wish to discuss, and
reviewing the external auditor’s management letter and
management’s response; considering any significant or unusual
items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the reports and
accounts and giving due consideration to any matters that have
been raised by the Company’s external auditor and compliance
officer (if any); reviewing the internal audit programs and to
ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditor,
assessing the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control systems and ensuring that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Group; discussing the risk management and
internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective systems.
This discussion includes the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;
reviewing arrangements the employees of the Company can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about the possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Company; and acting
as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s
relations with the external auditor.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Board has delegated the risk management responsibilities
to the Audit Committee to oversee and review the adequacy
and effectiveness of relevant financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management procedures that
have been in place.

The Audit Committee met three times, all in-person, in the
financial year of 2023. Each member’s attendance record
during the year is shown on page 40 of this Annual Report.

Summary of work done during and for the financial year
of 2023

° Reviewed the 2023 preliminary interim results
2023 interim financial report; 2022
preliminary annual results announcement and annual
statements with management and external

auditor, and recommended their adoption by the Board;

announcement;

financial

° Reviewed the reports from internal audit consultant their
work in relation to the Company’s internal control systems
and approved the 2023 internal audit plan;

° Reviewed the Dividend Policy, the Whistleblowing Policy
and the Anti-Corruption Policy and made
recommendations to the Board for consideration;

o Met with the external auditor to discuss the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations prior to the
commencement of the audit work;

o Reviewed and considered the terms of engagement of the
external auditor;

° Reviewed and approved/preapproved the audit and non-
audit services provided by the external auditor, together
with its respective fees;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

Summary of work done during and for the financial year

of 2023 (Continued)

° Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function and compliance with the related CG Code;

° Reviewed the business budget for the financial year of
2024;

° Reviewed the policies of the Group over trade receivables
and discussed about the impact of the legal proceedings
in which the Group was involved on the financials and
operation of the Group; and

o Held private session with external auditor in the absence
of executive Directors and senior management of the
Company.

Nomination Committee

Membership of Nomination

Name of Director Committee

Executive Director:

Mr. Wong Tat Tong
(Chairman & Chief
Executive Officer)

Chairman of Nomination
Committee

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Man Fai Member of Nomination Committee

Mr. Lok Kung Chin Member of Nomination Committee
Hardy

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources,
including the advice of independent professional firms, if
necessary, to discharge its duties.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee also reviews the structure, size,
composition and diversity (including the skills, knowledge,
experience, gender and age) of the Board; Director’'s time
commitment; policies in relation to nomination of Director and
Board diversity. The Committee would identify and determine
the measurable objectives for achieving board diversity and
monitor any progress made in achieving such measurable
objectives. The Committee would also recommend to the
Board on appointment or reappointment of and succession
planning for Director and Chief Executive Officer.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the
candidate’s character, qualifications, experience, independence
and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve board diversity,
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

where

The Nomination Committee held three meetings in-person in
the financial year of 2023. Each member’s attendance record
during the year is shown on page 40 of this Annual Report.

Summary of work done during and for the financial year

of 2023

° Reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
the mix of skills, knowledge, professional qualification and
experience of the Directors) of the Board;

° Reviewed the execution effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and made recommendations to the Board for
approval;

° Assessed and confirmed the independence of all
independent non-executive Directors; and

o Reviewed and recommended the appointment and rotation
of Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS EESNZEEER
Attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings, 2023 BEE SEZENEES D% - H
Remuneration Committee meetings, Audit Committee meetings, ZE &€&  BXRLESS#  RELZEEN
Nomination Committee meetings and general meeting(s) during BRE A€ &3 2 HELERIWOT ¢
the financial year of 2023 are as follows:
Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
HE/ HEERLEGERY
Overall
Remuneration Audit Nomination General Attendance
Board Committee Committee Committee meeting Rate
Name ®E EEXg HMZzEE EHZEE REZEE BRRAE EBELER
Independent non-executive @~ BIFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Tang Kwai Chang HEZEE 6/6 3/3 3/34 N/AT 8 A 11 100%
Mr. Wong Man Fai INERE 6/6 3/3¢@ 3/3 3/3 11 100%
Mr. Lok Kung Chin Hardy BERIERE 6/6 N/AT i A 3/3 3/3 1/1 100%
Non-executive Directors FETES
Mr. Timothy John Collins Timothy John Collins 7t & 3/3 N/AT 3 F N/AZ i B N/AZ i N/AT 3 F 100%
(appointment effected (REB2023F
on 14 June 2023) 6A14B R EH)
Mr. Lee Tak Wah FEERE 3/3 N/A 8 N/AN 8 A N/ATN 8 A N/A 8 100%
(appointment effected (REB2023F
on 14 June 2023) 6A14B R EH)
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Wong Tat Tong HEERAE 6/6° 313 3/30 3/3¢ 1/1 100%
Ms. Fan Yee Man B s NE 6/6" 3/30! 3/30 3/30 11 100%
Mr. Kam Chun Pong Berard SRBEAE 6/6 N/A7 i N/AT i N/AT i B 1/1 100%
Average Attendance of the EZEREFHHER 100%
Board Members
Notes: M 5E
(@)  Chairman of the Board (8 EFEEZEEF
(o)  Secretary of the Board/Committee b)) EEC ZEE

(¢ Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

(d)  Chairman of the Audit Committee

(e) Chairman of the Nomination Committee

) Attendance by Invitation
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS
(Continued)

During the year under review, the chairman of the Board also
met with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other executive Directors and senior management
of the Company.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation by the Nomination Committee of the
Company or by Shareholders in a general meeting.
Shareholders may propose a candidate for election as Director
in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and the
Nomination Policy. The nomination procedures by Shareholders
are published on the website of the Company. Any Director
who is appointed by the Board shall retire at the next General
Meeting.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 14 June 2023. All non-executive Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting in accordance to the Bye-Laws.

Subject to the re-election requirement of the Company’s
Bye-laws, all the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company are appointed for a specific term of not more than
three years under their letters of appointment. Pursuant to the
Company’s current Bye-laws, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and one-third (or the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) of Directors shall retire from office
every year at the Company’s annual general meeting.

The letter of appointment of Mr. Lok Kung Chin Hardy had
been renewed for another term of three years commencing
from 10 December 2023 on the same terms of conditions.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment, new Directors will also be given an induction
program kit advising them of their responsibilities and duties as
Directors under various regulatory requirements and the Board
procedures, including the terms of reference of the Board
Committees. Such Directors will be provided with relevant
guidelines including but not limited to “A Guide on Directors’
issued by the Companies Registry, “Guidelines for
Directors” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Directors as
guidelines on the general principles of duties of directors,
Guide for Independent Non-Executive Directors issued by The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors (if applicable), Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission and Guidance for Boards and Directors
issued by the Stock Exchange.

Duties”

The Company Secretary regularly provides to Directors
information about the enrollment of external training courses
and seminars as well as legal alerts and articles which are
relevant for Directors to keep up-to-date on any legislative,
regulatory and corporate governance requirements and with
professional practices in a dynamic business world. The
program would help refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills in
relation to their performance of the roles, functions and duties
of directors of a listed company.

The Board also acknowledges the importance of continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to senior management of the
Company in this highly competitive consumer product market.
Members of the senior management are encouraged to
participate in various CPD programs at the expense of the
Company.

42 Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

EEREREEERER

MIESNEEE MR EAMER  AER
ETHREFETAREERREZSRERF (8
REEFZEBEGCBBERE) T 2ETRE
B -ABEE=KERMKAHAES  BERETR
RAREMENE 2 EFEEES BEE
SRR ZIEFES] BEAEFESTE®
ZBIUFBNTEFER(WER) EF LR
ERERZBENBR ZABBERWERS - 1F
REFET—RRANE 245 5] R B AT 2%
MEFEREFES -

AREMEEHRAEZREABINEEIRE
L@z B2 &R R ERM

T BEHEEHBEZESIEDN EERDE
XERRENRTHBEZBEEEALRANE

XEG BHREEHEFTBRAFENE K
RE-RMBET LT AREEMEETZA
& BeEhETS-

E=ZgMABRERFANBBERD S L
FESXER((FEEXRREDHARASE
ERABZEEN -ARAHBEEEEKE
SNERRFEZEXRERAE  BEAHAQT
S e



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERERE (&)

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, all
participated in appropriate CPD activities by attending
training(s) and/or reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

Directors

The Directors have provided their training records for the
financial year 2023.

Reading regulatory

ESRAEREREEXRE(F)

REZE2023F12A31HIEFE  FTEEEE S
BamEIk, HBEBERARRAERXES
BEMEINER 2HBEMNEERIERRE
SEE o

B0 RMHM2023F M B F EHIF I RC 8% o

Attending professional
briefings/seminars/
conferences relevant
to directors’ duties,
regulatory updates

Reading materials and business

updates and relating to business HEEREERL
directors’ duties and industry EEREEHR
MEEERT MEBHEBR EBNEER
EHENK TENESR ge mHe g8
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wong Tat Tong BEBLAE v v
Ms. Fan Yee Man 45 g/ R v V
Mr. Kam Chun Pong Bernard SIRA K E v V
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Timothy John Collins Timothy John Collins %t & v v
Mr. Lee Tak Wah FERELE v y
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Mr. Tang Kwai Chang BEYiE v V
Mr. Wong Man Fai IXBEE v y
Mr. Lok Kung Chin Hardy BEASIE R4 v v
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS EEER

Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company. Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are prepared on a
going-concern basis. All the new accounting standards and
policies adopted by the Company have been thoroughly
discussed and approved at the Audit Committee before
adoption by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERRSE (F)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

The Group has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code (the
“Code”) on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Code is also applicable
to the specified group of employees who may possess or have
access to price sensitive information. Specific enquiries were
made to all Directors, and all Directors have confirmed
compliance with the required standard set out in the Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

Confirmations have been received from all Directors that they
have provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023. Directors
have also disclosed to the Company their interests as director
and other office in other public companies and organisation in
a timely manner, and have regularly reported to the Company
Secretary on any subsequent changes.

The objective of the Board evaluation is to review the Board’s
effectiveness and to identify areas for improvements. The
chairman of the Board has also been evaluated on whether he
has adequately and effectively performed his roles and fulfilled
his responsibilities as the chairman of the Board. Such
evaluation is usually conducted once a year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and
has been appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is
responsible for facilitating the procedures/activities of the Board
and the Board Committees as well as good communication
flow amongst the Board members, Shareholders and senior
management of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERRSE (F)

COMPANY SECRETARY (Continued)

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval. The Company Secretary reports to
the chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. The
Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for matters
relating to Directors’ duties, such as giving advice on corporate
governance developments and compliance and facilitating the
professional development programme and induction
programme of Directors. All members of the Board have
access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary.

Our executive Director, Ms. Fan Yee Man is the Company
Secretary of the Company. Please refer to “Directors and
Senior Management” section for her biographical information.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The internal control system consists of a set of rules, policies

and procedures and organizational structures which aims to:

— ensure the corporate strategies are properly implemented;

— achieve effective and efficient corporate processes;

— safeguard the value of corporate assets;

— ensure the reliability and integrity of accounting and
management data; and

— ensure the operations comply with all existing rules, policies
and regulations.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal audit system plays a critical role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
engaged an external consultant to perform reviews over the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems. The consultant also assesses
the risks inherent in particular business or functional areas,
including fraud or corruption, and conducts reviews or audits to
provide reasonable assurance that adequate governance and
controls are in place to address such risks.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEER®RSE ()

INTERNAL AUDIT (Continued)

Internal audit consultant reports to the Audit Committee and
administratively to chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer. It was granted with the authority of unrestricted access
to all aspects of the Company’s activities and internal controls.
This helps the audit consultant to provide an
independent and objective assurance to the Audit Committee
on whether the control environments within the Company are
adequate.

internal

Internal audit consultant carries out independent review of key
business processes and controls in accordance with its annual
audit plan reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. The
audit plan is prepared using a risk assessment
methodology and taking into account the Company structure,
organisational change, overall materiality of each business unit,
management’s concern, nature and complexity of operation
and operating environment. The risk assessment methodology
assists in identifying business risks and determining audit
frequencies. Internal audit consultant schedules its resources
focusing on high risk areas.

annual

The scope of work performed by internal audit consultant
includes review of entity wide controls, business process
control review, project based operational audit
compliance review and information technology system review. In
particular, business process
reporting controls and control testing would be performed on
assessing the operating effectiveness. Business process review
is performed on a continuous basis and aim to cover all major
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries on a cyclical
basis. Project based operation audit review focuses on specific
areas with high perceived risks and management concerns.
Internal audit consultant also conducts special review,
investigations, consulting and advisory services related to
corporate governance and controls as required by
management or the Audit Committee.

review,

review focuses on financial

Results of audit reviews are compiled in internal audit reports
and sent to senior management of the Company for process
improvement and rectification on a timely basis. Remediation
actions have been developed collaboratively by the
management and operational teams to rectify the control
weaknesses identified. All critical audit findings and control
weaknesses are summarised and presented to the Audit
Committee for their knowledge and/or attention.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEER®RE (HF)

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The risk governance structure and the roles and responsibilities
of each layer are listed below:

Board/Audit Committee ¢ Take the overall responsibility for risk management
e Establish the structure for risk management
e Approve operational risk policy and risk management
procedures
e Understand and review group most significant risks
¢ Determine strategic approach to risk and set risk appetite

e Consider major incident findings and management

response
Risk management & ¢ Develop and update the risk management policy
operation control and risk register
team (“RMOC”) e (Co-ordinate the risk management and internal

control activities

e Co-ordinate committees, contingency and
recovery plan

e Review major investigation findings on incidents

e  Compile risk information and prepare reports for
the Board/Audit Committee

Internal audit e Develop a risk-based internal audit programme
e Audit the risk processes across the organisation
e Receive and provide assurance on risk
management
e Report on the efficiency and effectiveness of
internal control

Department heads e Build risk aware culture within the depts
e Agree risk management performance targets
e Ensure implementation of risk improvement
recommendations
e |dentify and report changed circumstances/risks
Individual employees

Spokespersons e Consider materiality of information disclosed to
external parties
e Delivery disclosed information to relevant
stakeholders

Individual employees ¢ Understand, accept and implement risk
management process
e Report inefficient, unnecessary or unworkable
controls
e Report loss events and near miss incidents
e Co-operate with management on incident
investigations
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
J/J__\ T \Ai&i ("‘E)

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Our risk management process is embedded in our daily

operations,

financial activities,

compliance, strategy

development and business planning, investment decision and
external factors. The process are as follows:

Process Risk
Identification

Risk Analysis

Risk Evaluation

Risk Treatment

Identify the risks through department heads and
RMOC

Identify the risks that have a potential to
negatively affect the business strategic plan of
the Group

Consider the materiality of the impact of the risk
Access the relevancy to the business strategic
plan and the level of potential impact of the
delivery of the business strategic plan

Conduct a quantity measurement on its inherent
risk level, residual risk level and target risk level
Assess the risk severity according to its level of
consequence and the likelihood of the risk event
becoming actual event

Determine the severity with reference to the
historical data, reference from the industry and
own judgment

Identify the risks and assess the options available
to accept, mitigate or avoid the risks

Decide the appropriate response in terms of its
effectiveness

Establish the priorities in responding the risks

Selecting the risk treatment options

Preparing and implementing risk treatment plans
RMOC shall make a report to the senior
management for reporting the latest risk
landscape on a regular basis
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

J/J__\s,/.-h- \A*&i(mﬁ)

RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

° Risk Register
RMOC provides a risk register template for systematic
and consistent presentation of identified risks. For each
risk, there is a separate page which displays the details of
the risk, the risk severity presented in the format of risk
assessment matrix, the controls/mitigation
measures and the actions for improving the risk
mitigation.

internal

° Control Self-Assessment (“CSA”)
The Group adopts the CSA process to provide
reasonable assurance that risks are properly managed
and business objectives can be met. It also promotes risk
awareness and the importance of up-keeping effective
internal controls.

REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROLS EFFECTIVENESS
Internal audit consultant has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control system, including those of its operating companies for
the financial year of 2023. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the findings and audit
consultant on the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, which are designed
to manage rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

impartial opinion from the internal

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that
effective systems of risk management and internal control are
in place. With confirmation from the management, the Board
considered the risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate to the Group’s needs in its current
business environment and in terms of practicability for the year
ended 31 December 2023. No significant areas of concern that
might affect the financial, operational and compliance issues
and risk management functions of the Company were
identified. The scope of this review also covered the adequacy
qualification and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions and their training and budget.

of resources,
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

J/J__\s,/rh- \Ai&i(mﬁ)

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Company
is aware of the requirements under the applicable Listing Rules
and SFO and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable after
such information comes to our attention unless it falls within
any of the Safe Harbours provisions under the SFO. The
Company has had a system in place with established policies
and procedures for complying with the inside information
disclosure requirements under the regulatory regime. Every
Directors have been provided with the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and
Futures Commission. The Company has included in its code of
conduct and staff handbook a strict prohibition on the
unauthorised disclosure or use of confidential and inside
information.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management by bands for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
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Number of individuals

AB
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 221,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7& %1,500,0005% 7 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7& %2,000,000% 7 2
EXTERNAL AUDITOR Sh BE 1% B Em

Ernst & Young has been appointed as the external auditor of
the Company by Shareholders at the last annual general
meeting. An amount of HK$2.0 million was charged for the year
ended 31 December 2023 for statutory audits for the Company
and subsidiaries. The amount for the other non-audit services
provided by Ernst & Young for the Company and subsidiaries
during the year was HKO0.5 million, mainly comprised (i) interim
review of the condensed consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023; and (ii) tax
compliance and advisory services.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

tRER®E (H)

EXTERNAL AUDITOR (Continued)

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the
2023 financial
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 71 to 78.

statements are set out in the section of

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-
CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group has revised the Whistleblowing Policy during the
reporting period which provides employees and the relevant
third parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers,
suppliers, creditors and debtors) with guidance and reporting
channels on reporting any suspected improprieties in any
matters related to the Group directly addressed to the
designated person.

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an Anti-Corruption Policy during the reporting
period which promotes and supports anti-corruption laws and
regulations. It provides guidelines and the minimum standards
of conducts, all applicable laws and regulations in relation to
the anti-corruption and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of
employees to resist fraud, to help the Company defend against
corrupt practices and to report any reasonably suspected case
of fraud and corruption or any attempts thereof, to the
management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The
Company is committed to the prevention, deterrence, detection
and investigation of all forms of bribery, corruption and related
malpractice among all employees and those acting in an
agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group, and in its
business dealing with third parties.

The Board and the Audit Committee will
Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-Corruption Policy
periodically to ensure their effectiveness. For further details of
the Company’s Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-Corruption
Policy, please refer to the
Governance Report” published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

review the

“Environmental, Social and
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERRSE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for requisitioning a special general
meeting

Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the Company
may, by written requisition to the board or the Company
Secretary signed and deposited in accordance with Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, require the Directors to call a special
general meeting for the transaction of business specified in the
requisition. The requisition must be deposited at the registered
office of the Company at Canon’s Count, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda (the “Registered Office”) for the
attention of the Company Secretary of the Company. To
ensure that the requisition is received by the Company at the
earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition should
also be deposited at the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Flats F-J, 11th Floor, Block 1, Kwai Tak
Industrial Centre, 15-33 Kwai Tak Street, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong (the “Head Office”) for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 Shareholders
may, at their expense, provide a written request to the
attention of the Company Secretary signed and deposited in
accordance with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. The
requisition must be deposited at the Registered Office for the
attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the
requisition is received by the Company at the earliest
opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition should also be
deposited at the Head Office for the attention of the Company
Secretary.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TEERERE (&)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Procedures for proposing a Person for Election as a
Director at General Meeting

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director at a general meeting is available for
viewing at the Company’s website at www.twcoffee.com.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and
procedures as set forth
Companies Act and the Company’s Bye-laws when making any
requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general meetings
of the Company.

in the relevant sections of the

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

On 27 April 2023, the Company passed special resolutions to
amend its Bye-Laws at the AGM in order to, among others, (i)
conform to the current requirements of the Listing Rules,
including the Core Shareholder Protection Standards as set out
in Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules, and the applicable laws of
Bermuda; and (ii) incorporate certain housekeeping
amendments. For further details of the amendments, please
refer to the announcement and circular of the Company dated
2 March 2023 and 24 March 2023, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

We believe accountability and transparency are indispensable
for ensuring good corporate governance and, in this regard,
timely communication with our Shareholders is crucial.

The Board has adopted a formal Shareholders’ Communication
Policy to ensure that Shareholders are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to the Company’s information and
reviewed the said Policy on a regular basis. The Shareholders’
Communication Policy is posted on the Company’s website.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

TRERRSE (F)

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS (Continued)

Under the Shareholders’s Communication Policy, the annual
shareholders’ meetings and other shareholders’ meetings of the
Company are the primary forums for communication by the
Company with
participation. The chairman of the Board in person chairs the
annual general meeting to ensure Shareholders’ views are
communicated to the Board. Moreover, the briefing on the
Company’s business and the questions and answers session at
the annual general meeting allow Shareholders to stay informed
of the Company’s strategies and goals. Shareholders may at
any time put enquiries to the Board. Any such questions shall
be directed to the Company Secretary.

its shareholders and for Shareholders’

The Company maintains a corporate website (www.twcoffee.com)
to keep Shareholders and the investing public posted of the
Company’s latest business developments, final and interim
financial reports, public
announcements, corporate governance policies and practices

results announcements,

and other relevant shareholder information.

Separate resolutions in respect of each substantial
including the appointment and re-election of Directors will be
proposed by the chairman at the annual general meeting (the
“Chairman”) of the Company and will be voted on by poll. The
detailed procedures of conducting a poll will be explained by
the Chairman at the commencement of the annual general
meeting to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with such
procedures. The poll results will be posted on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company on the same day
following the annual general meeting.

issue,

After the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy
including steps taken at the annual general meeting and the
handling of queries received (if any) which were conducted
during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Shareholders’
Communication Policy was found to be effective and adequate.
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Directors’ Report

ESE®RSE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report
together with the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company. The Company has established a principal place of
business in Hong Kong at Flats F-J, 11th Floor, Block 1, Kwai
Tak Industrial Centre, 15-33 Kwai Tak Street, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong and has been registered as a non-
Hong Kong company.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. Currently, the
Company, through its subsidiaries, primarily engages in (i)
processing and distribution of coffee, tea and related
complementary products; (i) processing and distribution of
frozen food; and (i) sale of coffee and tea machines and
provision of coffee and tea machine solutions.

The segment analysis of the operations of the Group during the
financial year is set out in Note 4 to the financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and important events affecting the Group
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 9 to 20 of this Annual Report. The Group
has adopted a risk governance structure and established a set
of risk management processes which is embedded in our daily
operation and management. For details, please refer to section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 47 to 49.
Further, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group can be found in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 8 of this Annual Report.
These discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

EEg®E (H)

ISSUED CAPITAL
The movements in the issued capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves comprise the share
premium, contributed surplus and retained profits. As at 31
December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves of
HK$349.5 million. Movements in the Company’s reserves
during the year is set out in Note 36 to the financial
statements.

RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK2.22 cents per ordinary share (2022: HK2.19 cents) in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023.

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM”) to be held on Wednesday, 22 May 2024.
Upon Shareholders’ approval to be obtained at the AGM, the
proposed final dividend will be payable on or before
Wednesday, 12 June 2024 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Tuesday, 28 May 2024.

Details of the dividend are set out in Note 11 to the financial
statements.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 17 May 2024 to Wednesday, 22 May 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered, for the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’
entittement to attend and vote at the AGM.
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and appropriate
transfer forms must be lodged for registration with the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 16 May 2024.

In order to be

In addition, in order to determine the entitlement of the
Shareholders to receive the proposed final dividend, if
approved, the register of members of the Company will be
closed on Tuesday, 28 May 2024, during which no transfer of
Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to receive the
proposed final dividend, all transfers of Shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates and appropriate transfer forms
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the period from 1
January 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST
IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The controlling Shareholders have confirmed to the Company of
his/its compliance with the deed of non-competition dated 15
December 2017 during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any business or interest of the controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interests
which any such person has or may have with the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of
this Annual Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Tat Tong

Ms. Fan Yee Man

Mr. Kam Chun Pong Bernard

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Timothy John Collins

(appointment effected on 14 June 2023)
Mr. Lee Tak Wah

(appointment effected on 14 June 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Kwai Chang

Mr. Wong Man Fai

Mr. Lok Kung Chin Hardy

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is satisfied that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent as defined under the Listing Rules.

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-Laws,
Mr. Kam Chun Pong Bernard and Mr. Lok Kung Chin Hardy
will retire from their offices as Director and subject to
re-election at the AGM to be held on Wednesday, 22 May
2024. Further, in accordance with Bye-law 102 of the
Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Timothy John Collins and Mr. Lee
Tak Wah shall be subject to re-election at the AGM.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
The biographical
management of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21 to 26
of this Annual Report.

information of the Directors and senior

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of the Directors are as follows:

Mr. Timothy John Collins and Mr. Lee Tak Wah were appointed
as non-executive director of the Company with effect from 14
June 2023.

For changes in the remuneration of each of the executive
Directors, please refer to Note 8(c) to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the Directors proposed for re-election or appointment
at the AGM has entered into a service contract with the Group
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration shall be determined based on
recommendations from the Remuneration Committee, while also
makes reference to the complexity of the Director’'s work,
workload, responsibilities, as the Company’s
remuneration policies. Details of the Directors’
and the five highest-paid individuals of the Group are set out in
Notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.

as well
remuneration
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
each Director and chief executive of the Company and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which the directors and chief executives
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in the Shares of the Company

(a)

Name of Executive Director Nature of Interest

BOTESBSSR EEME

Interest in controlled
corporation; beneficial
owner

REEERER

ERlEAA

Mr. Wong Tat Tong
(“Mr. Wong”) (Note 3)

BEEERA((EEE]D(HES)

Beneficial owner

EmBEAA

Ms. Fan Yee Man
B0

%%Fﬁ%ﬂﬁfﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ%é&

MR2023F12A31H » ARAIZREEREETH
AEBRBEEHE ARARRE K& HE [ AE B
FE(EERBHFREEKRAIEXVED) Kk H -
HERGO REEEPHEERBEESRPE K
BIEXVEBET7 R85 BB A& AR 7] KBt XX FT Y
Bm oRE (BIEREEF K EBEEOIA R K
NEERTETHRABHEEXGERERD
BmRkRE)  IBRIBEES KRBT KO EXVE
EI2FEBEERR AR AIRIEZ G AR
EFcAanEz AR  IREIFESFRIZA
MERRARBERIMOERRABET

(@) REATROHNHER
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Number of as at
Shares held 31 December 2023
(Note 1) Total (Note 2)
7A2023%F12H31H
FEROEE WERBAE D
(P 5E1) Fob (Mt 5E2)
514,667,312 514,667,312 71.41%
918,000 918,000 0.13%
184,000 184,000 0.03%

Beneficial owner
EmiEE A

Mr. Kam Chun Pong Bernard
&R HB 5L A4
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(b)

Notes:

1. All the above interests in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company were long positions. None of the
Directors held any short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December
2028.

2. Based on the Company’s issued share capital of
720,731,612 shares as at 31 December 2023.

3. Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 514,667,312

shares: (i) by attribution of the interests of Hero Valour
Limited (“Hero Valour”) (a company controlled by Mr.
Wong holding 247,996,652 Shares) and Hero Asia
Company Limited (“Hero Asia”) (a company controlled by
Mr. Wong holding 115,317,043 Shares); and (i) because
Hero Valour and Hero Asia are parties to a side letter with
Dah Chong Hong Food International Holdings Limited
(“DCH Food”) which holds 151,353,617 shares, to which
section 317(1) of the SFO applies, and accordingly Hero
Asia and Hero Valour have aggregated their interests in the
Shares with the interests of the other party to the side
letter. Therefore, Mr. Wong is treated as being interested
in 514,667,312 Shares via his controlled corporations
(namely, Hero Asia and Hero Valour).

Long position in the Shares of associated (b)
corporations of the Company

Nature of Name of associated
Name of Director interest corporation
EEnA EEMtE HEEEER
Mr. Wong Beneficial owner Hero Valour
\mEA EnEAA Hero Valour
Mr. Wong Beneficial owner Hero Asia
mAEAE ExnEA Hero Asia

Bt 35

Eai AR TR RAEKRGERSS AL
B o A2023F12A31H - EF M EN A
NARO EBEBERGDIFTERE -

AR D TR2023F 12 A31A W B 1T
K720,731,5120 B DT & -

TR B 514,667,3120% I 17 Fh 7
B (\ERKEREBE AN E GHero
Valour Limited ([ Hero Valour |) (—f& &
FHAEEEHIM AT - #575247,996,6520%
B% 19) FHero Asia Company Limited
([Hero Asia |)(—MHRELEZFNA
Al ¥ 115,317,043 B 1) B9 4 25
X (i) 7 Hero Valourf2Hero Asia /& B A
ETRAERERERARA(AETE
)BT EHF R E KO E317(1) 15
AR EMETN T  MAETRREFE
151,353,617/ A& 15 - #% ttHero Asiafi
Hero Valouraﬂ%ﬁﬂifﬁ%?&ﬁwﬂ‘&ﬁ@
R ESEHTE Bt EX4E
WRRBEREZE /ﬁl(ﬂﬂ Hero Asiaf.
Hero Valour ) 72514,667,3120% B& {5 7 %
B

o

RAEQXFDHEBZERDHEFR

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding

ordinary as at

shares held 31 December 2023

R2023F12A31H

Fris ik 6 8 B MERBENE DL

51 51.00%

100 100%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares and underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
of the Company required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
each of the persons, other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued share
capital, as recorded in the register kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Br E AT HEEE SN - R2023F12A31H » AR
AESAFTETHRAEHMERARANEME
MABEZE(ERRBSH LBAE KR EXVE)
Bl RAEERDEBREREF RBE KM
FIEARNA AT ESSMAEENER
goRE  NMERBEESFASTHAGARA K
B PTHI R AE ©

g%&i%&ﬁ&ﬁ%&ﬁ¢mﬂ
#2023 128318 « MIMA D AR EEH R
BEPIEORFENBEMAR  WTAL
(FRAEFREBTHRABRIRARAF
B REERG T EEREAADRAE R
B ARG % 5 A b 25 ROA R

Approximate %

Number of of total
ordinary shares issued share
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest (long position) (Note 7)
HE#TRE
EER¥E BYBNEIL
BRRE®/ 2 BEntE (##8) (H5E7)
Hero Valour (Note 1) Beneficial owner; Interest in a section 317 concert party 514,667,312 71.41%
agreement
Hero Valour (Ff 1) ERBEAAN RENTHR-BITHALHETOESR
Hero Asia (Note 2) Beneficial owner; Interest in a section 317 concert party 514,667,312 71.41%
agreement
Hero Asia (ff5t2) ERBEAAN RENTHR-BITHALHETOESR
Ms. Li Ying Wah Irene Interest in controlled corporation; Interest of spouse; Interest 514,667,312 71.41%
(“Ms. Li") (Note 3) in a section 317 concert party agreement
FaRggt+((Fxt)) REEEER  REER RENTR-RTHALHE
(B#5E3) H &
DCH Food (Note 4) Beneficial owner; Interest in a section 317 concert party 514,667,312 71.41%
agreement
RETRm(K4) ERBEAAN RENTHR-BITHALBETOESR
CITIC Limited (Note 5) Interest in controlled corporation; Interest in a section 317 514,667,312 71.41%
concert party agreement
RERERHARRA REEEER  RENTE-HTHALHE T OER
(Pt &25)
CITIC Group Corporation Interest in controlled corporation; Interest in a section 317 514,667,312 71.41%
(Note 6) concert party agreement
REREEEARAA REEEER  RENTE-HTHALHE T OER
(Pt 26)
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Notes:

1. Hero Valour is deemed to be interested in 514,667,312 shares:
() by including 247,996,652 shares it holds as a beneficial
owner; and (ii) because Hero Valour is a party to a side letter, to
which section 317(1) of the SFO applies, and accordingly Hero
Valour has aggregated its interests in the shares with the
interests of other parties to the side letter (i.e. Hero Asia and
DCH Food).

2. In respect of the 514,667,312 Shares, 363,313,695 Shares were
held by itself beneficially and, simultaneously, as a party to an
agreement to which s 317(1)(@) of SFO applies, Hero Asia is
treated as being interested in the 151,353,617 Shares held by
DCH Food.

3. Reference is made to note 3 of part “(a) Long position in the
Shares of the Company” in the section headed “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES”. As Mr. Wong’s spouse and a 49%
shareholder of Hero Valour, Ms. Li is deemed to be interested in
514,667,312 shares.

4. In respect of the 514,667,312 Shares, 151,353,617 Shares were
held by itself beneficially and, simultaneously, as a party to an
agreement to which s 317(1)(a) of SFO applies, DCH Food is
treated as being interested in the 363,313,695 Shares held by
Hero Asia.

5. DCH Food is an indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of CITIC
Limited, and therefore CITIC Limited is deemed to have an
interest in the shares in which DCH Food is interested.

6. CITIC Limited is an indirectly non-wholly owned subsidiary of
CITIC Group Corporation, and therefore CITIC Group
Corporation is deemed to have an interest in the shares in which
CITIC Limited is interested.

7. Based on the Company’s issued share capital of 720,731,512
shares as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no
person, other than the Directors of the Company, whose
interests are set out in the section “Directors’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company that was required to be
recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Bt 35

Hero Valourt® 18 & #514,667,3120% f% 15 & %
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
As at the date of this Annual Report, the remaining life of the
Share Options Schemes is around 3 years and 9 months.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 72,397,931 Shares, representing 10% of the
issued Shares as at the date of this Annual Report.

No options have been granted or agreed to be granted or
outstanding under the Share Option Schemes (as the case may
be). Therefore, no options were exercised, cancelled, or lapsed
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options granted under the Share Option Schemes during the
year ended 31 December 2023 divided by the weighted
average number of shares in issue for the year was nil.

Further details of the Company’s Share Option Schemes are
disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of
this Annual Report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float of the issued Shares (i.e., at least 25% of the
issued Shares in the public hands) as required under the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and
in which a Director or his/her respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) had a material interest, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there was no contract
of significance (i) in relation to the Group’s business; or (i) for
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their
respective subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2023.

64 Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

BRESE
BEANFRE LS BR80T FH03
FEOMEA -

BlREFE TIHBTIAORODEE A
72,397, 93108 B - MBE R AF R A B E 217
f% 15 #910% °

FEEREAE(RBRAME) T HEEREE
BRESEERE ®ERITE - ALt - HE2023
< BUH
B AR o

B E2023F12A31H L FE - sLiRIR B RUERT
SR BB B T A T 21T B0 A AR 3R A
FRAEETROMEFHHRT -

ARFIBEETENEZF
28 E -

RARNBERE
READAFMEMODRE R AR E S
M AARRAFREARE TR
EREBRTRHBBZHNRRERE (AE
DN EBTRHEARALEA)

R R R &}

EERRE RSN ESR

BMEXQRIEEMMBAR RO MA
RAEEHHABEZHEACERER LTR
ADREFREREAEE BN FRIFAEM
RETFENEARS LHHELH -

BRAFHABRTREIN NG KEEMHER
Bt E R E £2023F12A31H L FEEHARF]
PERRAR R Sk 1 % B WOl ffY BB & &) 57 S2() B2
AEBMEKER : s(i)mARQ ) sk EE B
NARERBHEREL -



Directors’ Report (continued)

EEg®E (H)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business that competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than
being a director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than a contract of service with a Director
or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the
Company, concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2023.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 195 and 203
(2022: 209 and 198) employees in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, respectively.

Remuneration packages are generally structured with reference
to qualifications, experience, performance and market terms.
The Company has also adopted share option schemes to
motivate valued employees, details of which are set forth under
the section headed “Share Option Schemes” in the Prospectus
and Note 28 to the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group provided
various trainings to its employees ranging from operation skills
such as occupational safety training and machine control
training to professional knowledge including management
systems and business knowledge, to ensure the effective
implementation of the Group’s business strategy.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of material related party transactions entered into by the
Company in the normal course of business during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 32 to the
financial statements.

In respect of each related party transaction disclosed in Note
32 to the financial statements, the Company confirms that it
has reviewed the transactions which complied with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules and the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules (if applicable).

In particular, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors), have reviewed and confirmed that the
transactions referred to in items “Purchase of goods via a
distributor” and “Logistic and storage costs charged by a
warehouse and logistics service provider” of Note 32 (a) to the
financial statements are continuing connected transactions
exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
such transactions are exempt from the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the other related party transactions
as disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements do not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, other than the non-compliance
matter disclosed on Note 30 to the financial statements, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and during the year, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

EEg®E (H)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
POLICIES AND PERFORMANCES

The Group is committed to building a sustainable future and
maintaining the long term sustainability of the environment and
communities in which it operates. It assesses the materiality of
various ESG
environmental and social impacts during operations. Acting in
an environmentally responsible manner, all businesses of the
Group are required to comply with all applicable ESG laws and
regulations strictly.

issues and take measures to control the

The Group strives to minimise its environmental
through effective air emissions control,
energy efficiency, proper waste management and resources
conservation. The Group also puts effort into creating positive
social impacts by protecting labour right and maintaining
integrity. More discussion on the Group’s ESG initiatives,
performance and applicable ESG laws and regulations can be
found in the standalone “Environmental, Social and Governance

Report”.

impacts
superior water and

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable
assets and thus it provides competitive and attractive
remuneration packages to retain the employees. The
management reviews annually the remuneration to its
employees of the Group.

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers
and customers. The Group aims at delivering high quality
services to its customers and developing mutual trust and
enhancing communication and commitment between the Group
and its suppliers.

BRE - HERERERRXRERE
Zli’ilﬁj]EAEULTTiii?‘@mﬂi% Al HE
KEMENRREMEORENFEEEYN
BEH - HAFEZHEERE HegkEHENE

EMWRMERENEEFNREREER
ZoDHRBARENIANET AEEMBE
B ARKETMAERARE e kERE
BLOEM °

AEBEFZBERNREBHENER  HHOMRKE
KNERME ZENBEEVEERERRE -

HAORMEHRREKNZE - XEBTTEBR
ELIHNEBTHE BHEEBEERN
Hered - AEENERE - ZiA&%/ (EE
AR ERARE L8 RERERENERADN

FZEUmAaRNBLTEHNERE L@ REAR
HEl-

HES HEBREFNER

AEBHEEREDEENEENEE  WHERE
HEBRFORESINOFHGTEARERE -
EEEBFRNASEEENFM -

AEEERHEEREELEFAOFABREK X
EEEEARFIRBEELDRYS  THHEERE
SN EAEBIR - ok E R KA o

T CFFH RRBERERBRAE 67



Directors’ Report (continued)
EESHE(F)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentages of
purchases from the Group’s largest supplier and the five
largest suppliers were 17.2% and 50.0%, respectively. The
percentages of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers were 24.6% and
39.5%, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or any of their close associates, or any Shareholders
(which to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Bye-laws provides that the Directors shall be
entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses incurred or sustained
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty or supposed duty except they shall
incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or default,
fraud and dishonesty respectively. In addition, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Company arranged appropriate
liability insurance coverage in respect of any legal action
against the Directors. The insurance coverage shall be
reviewed on an annual basis.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate at any time during the year or at the end
of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Schemes of the Company as
disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

EEg®E (H)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the relevant laws of the Bermuda where the Company is
incorporated which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders to be its ultimate goal. It is the policy of the
Company to allow the Shareholders to participate in its profits
and to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The Board
continues to adopt a dividend policy on the recommendation of
the Audit Committee. In deciding whether to recommend the
payment of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account various factors, including (i) general business
conditions and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; (i) financial condition and results of
operations of the Group; and (iii) expected capital requirements
and future expansion plans of the Group. The payment of
dividend is subject to applicable laws and regulations and the
Company’s constitutional documents. No dividend shall be paid
otherwise than out of profits available for distribution. It is the
intention of the Company to distribute dividends in amounts of
not less than 35% of its net profit for a financial year by way of
cash or by other means.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Saved as those disclosed under the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Group did not
have any significant investment during the year under review.

DONATIONS

During the vyear, the Group made charitable and other
donations in the amount of approximately HK$190,000 (2022:
HK$160,000).
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Directors’ Report (continued)

EEg®E (H)

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 197 to 200 of this Annual
Report. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a special
dividend of HK13.87 cents per ordinary share totalling
approximately HK$100 million, was declared on 16 February
2024. It was paid on 11 March 2024.

On 20 February 2024, the sale of assets classified as held for
sale for a cash consideration of HK$17.2 million was
completed and resulted in a gain on disposal of approximately

HK$12.4 million.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023
have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire at the
conclusion of the AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited
Mr. Wong Tat Tong

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor's Report
B M % B D

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Tsit Wing International Holdings
Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tsit
Wing International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 196, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

BYZEHMEKS (F)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide
the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

BYUZEHMEKS (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FAEHESER (B

Key audit matter

BREESFEER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNMNEEEARETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 /&YW 5 E B E A1

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had gross trade
receivables of approximately HK$126,252,000 before
deducting the impairment of
approximately HK$11,083,000. Significant management
judgements, estimations and assumptions were
required in determining the loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the trade receivables, with
reference to the groupings of various customer
segments, ageing profile of the trade receivables,
historical credit loss experience, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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126,252,000/ 7T (¥ kR I 18 &5 18 1 5 £911,083,00078
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loss allowance for

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance and the significant judgements and
estimates required in assessing the ECLs on trade
receivables.

BHEATLREETERERERRTGEE HEEK
ENEREEBEFTZEARHAE LMo

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and
16 to the consolidated financial statements.
MR R BEE NGRS SRR M 3% 16 ©

We evaluated management’s impairment assessment
of trade receivables and our key procedures included,
amongst others, (i) obtaining an understanding of and
assessing the Group’s policy and approach to
determine the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables, including an evaluation of management’s
relevant judgements and estimates based on available
historical credit loss information, current conditions
and forward-looking information; and (ii) examining, on
a sampling basis, management’s calculations and
assumptions used to determine the ECLs on trade
receivables through testing of certain underlying
information generated by the Group’s financial
reporting system and assessing relevant past events
and current conditions of certain trade debtors as well
as applicable forward-looking
reference to related publicly available information.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

V% B R E (&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

inconsistent with the consolidated financial

is a material
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

BYUZEHMEKS (F)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

V% B R E (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continueqd)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

BYUZEHMEKS (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or,
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

if such disclosures are

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AESAMBEBRERNBRINE A A&
BNAZ  BREEE  UMEEMBHRE
EETERBIZHMEE -

B BEEEANERIEBETHOMBE
BERGTR - BEMENRE  WEHR
EMBHAERER - HMEE BE&KHE
Bt oA BEEMAT HAREHE
RAEAEzREE-
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Independent Auditor's Report (continued)

BYZEHMEKS (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

resulting

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBERR

Year ended 31 December 2023

H E2023F12A31HILLFE
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3T FERT FHET
REVENUE A 5 728,930 695,938
Cost of sales iH & B AR (488,377) (461,176)
Gross profit E 240,553 234,762
Other income and gains, net H AU A R Y55 0% 58 5 5,937 11,252
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAX (102,829) (104,437

General and administrative expenses — #& & 77 B 52 (79,328) (79,237

)
)
(4,200)
)

Other expenses, net Hh < 588 (4,295)
Finance costs B & KA 6 (1,040) (892
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B B 0% F 7 58,998 57,239
Income tax expense Frisfi 2 10 (10,287) (9,815)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEREF 48,711 47,424
Profit for the year attributable to NEEBEAEBLHFER
owners of the parent s A 48,711 47,424
HK cents HK cents
& Al oIl
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEESEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEEREF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT 12
Basic and diluted AR R E 6.76 6.58
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEETEWER

Year ended 31 December 2023

H E2023F12A31HIEFE
2022
20224
HK$’000
FAT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 48,711 47,424
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hib2HEEE
Other comprehensive loss that may be FERHIM A EFH DB EER
reclassified to profit or loss in By H fh 2 E5 18 -
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HBEBINEKWIEH =&
foreign operations (4,466) (22,797)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FRHM2MEEIE
THE YEAR (4,466) (22,797)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR R ZHWKFEEE
THE YEAR 44,245 24,627
Attributable to: LA™ A LA -
Owners of the parent UNEIE Z=IN 44,245 24,627
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REeEMBMRR K
31 December 2023
2023F12A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Deposits paid for purchases of items
of property, plant and equipment

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables
Derivative financial instruments
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

ERBEE

ME - BB &&E
BEE

ENBEYE  BER&RE
HAERS
BENRE - e REAM R
IR

BT IR B B

FRBEERE

RBEE

FE

B 5 WA
BRHIE - e REMEK
IR

AJ 4 @ £ IR
ReMREEHEY

DRRBELENEE

g
&

PHEEHLE

Vi

.

G

RBEE

B 5 AR

J& 5T SRR Ko Ll & < 3R
TEEMTA
SFRRTTHE R

HERE

FE& 1 32 I8

UEIR:

S

/

EEE

RBEEFME

Notes

Y

13
14

17
25

15
16

17

18

19

20
21
22
23
24

Y

2023
20234
HK$°000
FERT

187,804

25,531

1,519
2,800

217,654

131,502
115,169

12,136

151
253,752

512,710
4,753
517,463
63,360
44,132
161
7,130
7,433
3,710

125,926

391,537

2022
20224F
HK$’'000
FAET

189,711

91

18,774

1,519
2,622

212,717

195,920
109,629

18,030
4,486
189,789

517,854

517,854

77,909
42,065
312
10,622
11,319
1,047

143,264

374,590
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

e BN R (&)

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F&ET THE T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #AEERABEAERE
LIABILITIES 609,191 587,307
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES knBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 10,524 4,705
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEEE 25 8,231 7,366
Total non-current liabilities R aEEsE 18,755 12,071
Net assets EEFE 590,436 575,236
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners BARBEAEAEMER
of the parent
Issued capital BEITER 26 72,073 72,073
Reserves (ke 27 518,363 503,163
Total equity TR 4B EA 590,436 575,236
Wong Tat Tong Fan Yee Man
Director Director
Ea BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEERSB X

Year ended 31 December 2023

H E=2023F12A31HILFE
Note
i
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1 A1H 72,073 215,402 123,578 15,387 (12,198) 160,994 575,236
Profit for the year FREF = = = - - 48,711 48,711
Other comprehensive loss FREMEEERE:
for the year:
Exchange differences on REBIINEBE
translation of foreign ERER
operations = = - - (4,466) - (4,466)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income X2 (1),

for the year Wames = - - - (4,466) 48,711 44,245
Dividends &8 11 - - - - - (29,045) (29,045)
Transfer from retained profits BEEREAEH = = = 678 - (678) -
At 31 December 2023 20234128318 72,073 215,402* 123,578* 16,065* (16,664)*  179,982* 590,436

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * ZEHRBRLERSVBMRARNGEE FE
HK$518,363,000 (2022: HK$503,163,000) in the consolidated 518,363,000/ 7T (20224F : 503,163,000/ 7T) °
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

GEERSBX(A)

Year ended 31 December 2023

B =2023F12A31B ILEFEE

At 1 January 2022

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss
for the year:
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

Dividends
Transfer from retained profits

At 31 December 2022

20221 A1H

F R A

FREMREEE:

BERINELH
ERER

FRZE(EBE)/
L6 5

@)

EREREEN

120226124318

Issued

capital

B#1T

B

Note HK$'000
i FHET

72,073

Share
premium
account
& 7

i B IR
HK$'000
FHET

215,402

215,402"
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Attributable to owners of the parent

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve

B K )% 8
HK$'000
FHET
(note 27(c))
(FftzF27(c))

10,599

(22,797)

(22,797)

NEEE AR
Statutory
Contributed reserve
surplus funds
ETE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(note 27(a))  (note 27(b))
(MtsF27(a))  (MiaE27(0))
123,578 14,392
- 995
123,578" 15,387*

(12,198)

Retained
profits

fRE A
HK$'000
TET

152,476

47,424

47,424

(37,911)
(995)

160,994*

Total
equity

HK$'000
THET

588,520

47,424

(22,797)

24,627

(37,911)

575,236



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

S A N — |
GREBRERER
Year ended 31 December 2023
H E2023F12A31HILLFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Finance costs
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Depreciation of other items of
property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of trade receivables
Reversal of impairment of
trade receivables
Write-off of trade receivables
Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Losses/(gains) on changes in fair
value of derivative financial
instruments, net
Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value
Write-off of inventories

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade
receivables

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Decrease in trade payables

Increase/(decrease) in accruals and
other payables

Cash generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas taxes paid

Net cash flows from operating
activities

Notes

B 3£
REETHERLRE

B 7t B 4t 7
AT IHE A -

S

=
e
s
I Bt >
e
s
~NOo O

W
I

o
gL
X
i

HE IR

\/$F

\
/

13013 NS S
~N N~

HE ST IR SD  So S0 SE 0 e 38

SRS

o o

gl

B i
T

\
7

a)

\
/

-
s
=

N
>
b
it

41
BB =t

i H
AN
PRy
S
B

=

FEHBRER
7 & M 5

RemBRe
ENEEFNGHR
BB INRIA

BEEEHNRERE
7+ 58

k

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
58,998 57,239
(5,292) (2,450)
1,040 892
12,800 13,912
26,401 26,759
90 114
1,844 2,275
(437) (21)
363 168

699 69

185 (963)

619 292

436 1,426
97,746 99,712
61,770 (39,636)
(7,831) 9,202
5,866 (1,913)
(13,893) (8,261)
2,242 (1,020)
145,900 58,084
(2,067) (12,894)
(484) (3,395)
143,349 41,795
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

GERERER(A)

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31HILLFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment

Deposits paid for purchases of items

of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of derivative financial
instruments

Proceeds from disposal of derivative

financial instruments
Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment
Interest income received

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid
New bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Interest paid
Principal portion of lease payments
Interest portion of lease payments

Net cash flows used in financing
activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)
IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Time deposits with original maturity
of less than three months when
acquired

Cash and cash equivalents as stated

in the consolidated statement of
cash flows

Notes

B £

RETHHRERE
BEWE WENMREER

XHBENE - BERRE
EF RS
BETEEBIA
S IAR S

I
HEE R R A
15 308
B8 A

KEEFSFRAREMNE
/?%E\

MEZHRERE

B % E
%ﬁ i' fE

S e :\J\l :4\\| cir

4}
CI K>
Kr okk

BELPAEERE
SRR

RERASESEYEM
(R D) %5
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2023
20234

HK$’000

FERT

(22,924)
(14,860)
(331)

1,013
5,062

(32,040)

(29,045)
32,315
(35,807)

(522)
(12,437)
(518)

(46,014)

65,295

189,789

(1,332)

253,752

168,324

85,428

253,752

2022
20224
HK$’000
FHET

(63,370)

(12,958)

868

697
1,891

(72,872)

(75,756)
272,114

(6,569)

189,789

110,080

79,709

189,789



Notes to Financial Statements

B %% ¥ 3R Y &

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda.
The registered office of the Company is located at
Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12,
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
is located at Flats F=J, 11th Floor, Block 1, Kwai Tak
Industrial Centre, 15-33 Kwai Tak Street, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were engaged in the
following principal activities:

° processing and distribution of coffee, tea and related
complementary products

o processing and distribution of frozen food

° sale of coffee and tea machines and provision of
coffee and tea machine solutions

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Hero Valour Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands.

" =FFH

ARAREEEHR

REBEBRZERAER 2R RAD
REBREEZMAK I AR QA
N B H) FE 8% =5 R A2 A Canon’s Court,
22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda ° AN 2 B #) F E & i B 70
BN A ZBEEBE15-3REEIES
D EBIEIEFJE -

RRFRREER AT - RNQF R B
NRARFRNE NI ERET

e MIEDEHWMEE -  RRBEEREE
o
e MIENHIRRM

o B E UNTRHE Ro 2R DA Ko B 4 U R
R 2 R B IR 75

EEZAR ARAEEERAFARER

=
172 1% A &) AHero Valour Limited @ A& —
REBREZESHMKIIARA -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

RAREEHESH (EF)

MELRER
ARBETEMBRRFEWT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued
principal place of ordinary/
operation registered
Name and business share capital
BERAL BER
TERER BERTER/
£ BEXHH ot flt B A
Dongguan Tsit Wing Food The People’s HK$78,880,000
Co Ltd.* Republic of
China (“PRC")/
Mainland
China
REEREMARLDF mEARAAME 78,880,000 T
(M@l
hE A
Shanghai Tsit Wing Food PRC/Mainland US$2,400,000
Co Ltd.* China
FEREREMARAA! HE/RE R 2,400,000% 7T
Tsit Wing Beverage Machine Hong Kong HK$2
Company Limited
ERERRBABRLA B 28T
Tsit Wing Coffee Company, Hong Kong HK$10,000
Limited
RUMBEER A A BB 10,000% 7T
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Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

ERF R
EREIL

Direct

BE#

Indirect

B %

100

100

100

100

Principal activities

FEED

Processing of coffee beans and
distribution of coffee, tea,
and related complementary
products

T MBS R M - K K&
HEEEEm

Trading of coffee, tea and
related complementary
products; sale of coffee and
tea machines and provision
of coffee and tea machine
solutions; and sale of
frozen food

EEWMY XRBBEEE
o SHE MU R
IR IR R A R R
RNRHEESRRM

Trading of coffee and tea
machines and related
products

EEWMR R R REBER

Processing of coffee beans;
distribution of coffee, tea
and related complementary
products; and sale of
coffee and tea machines
and provision of coffee and
tea machine solutions

MIMBEZ - HEMBE - KR
BHEEEED  HEMUEE
RAH - WIREMEE R
REBBATR  UREE
ZREM



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023

2023512 A31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

registration and Issued
principal place of ordinary/
operation registered
Name and business share capital
EMEL/ BERER
TERER BRTEE/
£ REEME ot it R A
Tsit Wing Cold Chain Solutions  Hong Kong HK$100
Company Limited
BRARRMEBERAA Bk 1007 7T
Tsit Wing (China) Enterprises Hong Kong HK$2
Company Limited
BR(PE)GEERAA 0 28T
Tsit Wing (China) Holdings Hong Kong HK$1
Limited
RR(PE)ZERERARA 0 18T
Tsit Wing (China) Industrial Hong Kong HK$22,264,780
Company Limited
ER(PE)EXERAA BE 22,264,780 7T
Tsit Wing (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong HK$5,143,000
Limited
BREB(EB)ERALA BE 5,143,000 7T
Tsit Wing International Company  British Virgin US$10,276
Limited Islands
RERTES 10,276% 1T
# These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned

enterprises established under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group, or are significant investment
holding subsidiaries of the Company. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

1. RAREEEHN (&)

MELRER (E)

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

ANFERL
BBl TEED
Direct  Indirect
E# &
- 100 Processing and distribution of
frozen food
MIRDHEZRR m
- 100 Investment holding
REZK
100 — Investment holding
REZK
- 100 Investment holding
REZK
- 100 Investment holding
REZK
100 — Investment holding

BEZR

¢ % E R B RRE P BDER AL H SN
BEBERE -

ERINTEEZRRIBFEINAFREA
SESAEBEEFEEZRLINAR
BB AR XAR/RARAZEBRRER
BMBAR - EFR5 - Wi EMKE
NAER BSHAEBHBENR TR -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

90

21

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
(“HKICPA”)
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Accountants and the disclosure

These financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for
derivative financial
measured at fair value. Assets classified as held for
sale are stated at the
amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 2.4. They are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to
(HK$’'000) except when

instruments which have been

lower of their carrying

the nearest thousand
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:
(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

contractual

(b) rights arising from other

arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

income,

2. EFBEE)

2.1

mEEE(E)

EHEE (&)

—REBEAT Bk E NEH
BREREKIESE - HARAEA
DPRBEHRKZ R ZNIALE
MR AIRAERERFEERS
BREHREHRNENREEE —
DHEBEERER B

HEEEHREMBREREAN
ERES

(@)

b) HEMEHORBMELNER

(©) BHERE

S 8 ] A B 5 ¥Rk J0 B A — B
GETRER - LR EA R BAER H R
SHERE -WEBARNEECH
AREERBIEHEE BiRa AR
WRKHEESHEEZFTENELILL
2R/

BEREMEPERANZKDHEE
REBERBER A K IEEGIE#E
o BIE Ut EB E HOOE R
BERERTA - BRAAEEKE
RNAEAIZEAXRSHMAESERNRFME
MEENRBE #m WA X
MIREREHERE HHRBEEH o
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

21

2.2

92

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
recognised
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

of components previously in other

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to Definition of Accounting

HKAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
HKAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction
International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to
HKAS 12
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)
The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are
described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1
disclose their
information rather
accounting policies.
information is material

require entities to
accounting policy
than their significant
Accounting policy
if,
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial
statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or
presentation of any in the Group’s
financial statements.

material

when considered

items

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. Since the Group’s approach and
policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023

2023512 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

94

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that
it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments did not have
any material impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon
application.

initial

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a
mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to help
users of the financial
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
including the disclosure of
current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two
legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of
their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The
Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall
within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.

statements better

income taxes,
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards
The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.
Amendments to  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to  Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback’
Amendments to  Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)' 4
Amendments to  Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)" 4
Amendments to  Supplier Finance Arrangements'
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
Amendments to  Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21
| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025
s No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and

2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

96

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require
a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

a gain or

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of
use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the
end of the reporting period. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if
a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact
of the amendments and whether existing
agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

non-current,

will

loan
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

98

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in
understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of
the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as
at the beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into
another currency and how it shall estimate a spot
exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences
accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

cumulative effect of
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to

create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the

acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain

or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

100

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred,
non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

the amount recognised for

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

its annual
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial
instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

102

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant
measurement as a whole:

to the fair value

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair

measurement is observable, either

value

directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair
measurement is unobservable

Level 3 —

value

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

2. EFHEE)

24

EREHRERESN (B
AFEE (E)
FEeMEENRFEFEBAF LD
BoHEERERARECAZERE
ERRERSE B EELET
RERAREERZEEZERRER
EOWEMHIS2EE  EENK

»: — Az
W o

AEBERMERNTRBEREEE
AOBEBEARAERFENEKES
FOUNREEREEUERRE AR
BREERIERTAIBEH AR
R

P AR FER B 55 R Gt 8
BENEEMAGE EREHERER
FEAEMEBEANZERZERA
BE BMUTHRFEFESE:

£ — ERHEREERAER
RS ME CRE
S )
g2 — ERBRFEFEMS
BEEANABR(EER
&) REE & AR
EHHE A

F3  — ERYRAFEFEMS
BEANIAIBEERE
B ABBNEETE

MIEEE M EERN AT B RRER
MEENBEMS  A£EEEBR
EREMAREFFEOECRESY
BENTHEFEMNEBEANRE
BRaABBBEEABETRE
LR o



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial
assets and assets classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

104

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023

202312 A31H
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BEREE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EESTHRERER (&)
Related parties (Continued) B 5 (&)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following b) ZARTE TIEMGEHENE

conditions applies: R

()  the entity and the Group are members of () ZEBHEASEBR-
the same group; EEHNKERA

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture (i) —HEBRERE—HEB(K
of the other entity (or of a parent, ZAr—EBMNEAR]
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the MEARKRERNE QD
other entity); A MEBE RRH A E D

% .

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures (i) ZEBHEASERR-—
of the same third party; B EEDRE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —RERBAE=-FEE
and the other entity is an associate of the MeEEhx M5 — &
third entity; BAZE=ZHFEENE

/NG

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit V) ZREBIAEELE
plan for the benefit of employees of either AEBEBABERNE
the Group or an entity related to the BERATm AMBERER
Group; FETE

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled vy REBI@FFHEA
by a person identified in (a); V£ ) =X H R 4 )

(vi) a person identified in (a)() has significant (vii) @O)FTFEBIATHZER
influence over the entity or is a member EERFEH HR%Z
of the key management personnel of the ERB(AZEBNER
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and AMEEER ABHK

g &

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of (vii) ZEBIHEHMBEE®
which it is a part, provides key ERKE QA A Zli’il
management personnel services to the SIAEEHFARRMEE
Group or to the parent of the Group. ZEEABRY -
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

106

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 2.2%
Plant and machinery 4% to 33.33%
Furniture, fixtures and 20%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20%
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
initially recognised
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying

any significant part

amount of the relevant asset.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets is classified as held for sale if its
carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset
must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets and its sale

must be highly probable.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

108

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)
Non-current assets (other than financial assets)
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower
of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs
to sell. Property, plant and equipment classified as
held for sale are not depreciated.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

A trademark is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023

2023512 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single

recognition and

measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Leased properties

36 to 50 years
2 to 4 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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2023512 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

110

(0)

Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease
receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

lease term. The

incentives

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is if there
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

remeasured is a

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented
separately in the statement of financial
position.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. BIHBEMAE)
24 EERHBREN ()

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the

HE (&)
AEEERAH-NA ()
c EHEEREKEBEEEEHEE

AEBBEPHEERHRIE
FAt=s Mrmr e BES (A
BHEMRMBEHEFENR
TZEAIUAT - XAFES
BEEEEMNEE) -

RHRHEREKEEEEHEDN
HENRERERANERE

lease term.
Investments and other financial assets RERAMELHBEE
Initial recognition and measurement in R R i &

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

RNEERS 2REESED
B RERBEKAGTE -

The classification of financial assets at initial R ERE  @REE» HEIUR
recognition depends on the financial asset’s ReMEENSGNRSRERHR

contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

112

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held
within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Subsequent measurement — Financial assets at

amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset

have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has

transferred control of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

114

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months
(@ 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 120 days past due.
The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due
presumption of default based on reasonable and
supportable information, including the Group’s credit
risk control practices and the historical recovery rate
of financial assets over 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

116

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
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2. BIHBEMAE)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, or payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities
held for trading are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

118

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The
net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
statement of profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

income with no subsequent

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments,
such as forward currency contracts, to hedge its
foreign currency risk. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of derivatives are taken directly to the
statement of profit or loss, except for the effective
portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in
other comprehensive income and later reclassified to
profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or
loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

120

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average method and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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202312 A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

122

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2. BIHBEMAE)
24 EERHBREN ()

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

124

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the goods.

Provision of coffee and tea machine solutions
Revenue from the provision of coffee and tea
machine solutions is recognised over time in
accordance with the terms of respective
underlying agreements because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Sale of goods with provision of coffee and tea
machine solutions

The Group also engages in the provision of
coffee and tea machine solutions with the sale
of coffee and tea products. If customers’
purchases of coffee and tea products reach
the agreed minimum amount, the consideration
for the provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions for that month will be waived. Such
pricing arrangements are settled monthly or
quarterly and the provision of coffee and tea
machine solutions is bundled together with the
sale of coffee and tea products.

The contracts for bundled sale of goods with
provision of coffee and tea machine solutions
comprised of two performance obligations
because the promises to transfer the goods
and provide coffee and tea machine solutions
are capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable. Accordingly, the transaction price is
allocated based on the relative standalone
selling prices for the sale of coffee and tea
products and provision of coffee and tea
machine solutions. The revenue recognition
policies for the sale of goods and provision of
coffee and tea machine solutions are set out
above.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with

employees is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.

instruments that will

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting
condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not
met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its
employees under their employment contracts on a
calendar year basis. Under certain circumstances,
such leave which remains untaken as at the end of
the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in
the following year. An accrual is made at the end of
the reporting period for the expected future cost of
such paid leave earned during the year by the
employees and carried forward.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

Pension schemes

The Group continues to operate an occupational
retirement scheme registered under the Hong Kong
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance. This
scheme has been granted exemption pursuant to
Section 5 of the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries. When an employee leaves the scheme
before his/her interest in the Company’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Company are reduced by the
relevant amount of the forfeited employer’s
contributions.

Since December 2000, the Group operates a
defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries. The Company’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions from these schemes are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The
assets of these schemes are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administered
funds.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

2. EFHEE)
24 EREHRREN(F)

A ESHF (&)

Rikz 2
AEBEEEEF-ARBEERE
B KA B 15 B 5 il B B3 OR K EE
g - ZAFIACREFTEAHMER
EE st RO EoRER R - H51TD
REEEBEAHFEHR —BOLHIE
heZRENARBNEEHKE
DmEHFEBEARBEZE AR
AEMHREHRRE RO KR E
AR AR 5 T AR

ANEE H2000F 12 A BB IZ R EH B A
sl B EEOAMESER
SHERFHREHMEAESEKE
FEtE ((RETEDNES &t
BESFE  -HRIREEEALAFT S
WE—BOLFE -RXARKNEE
HREMRE ST EHRE2EE
BREES -

LatEr B HRE R E R ANET
XHEERA M - FFEEERN
SEEE AR ALBILER-

REEBEFEAME LB LA
BiE B MAS A E T RITENRE
MR REREFTE - ZFWEAR
BARBRETEXRAN—EB DL
B RGRKREEEHR - HRRE
FREKRESHENRTE EFEX
MEEEERTIR -

T EERBEBRERARAG 129



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

130

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
Bye-Laws grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

currency. Foreign currency
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or

profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial

recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

non-monetary

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the

transactions.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

132

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and

statements

liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

revenues, expenses,

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgement,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale
of goods and provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions

The Group engages in the provision of coffee and tea
machine solutions that are either provided separately or
bundled together with the sale of coffee and tea products
to a customer. The provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions is a promise to transfer services in the future
and is part of the negotiated exchange between the
Group and the customer.
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3.

134

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Identifying performance obligations in a bundled sale
of goods and provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions (Continued)

The Group determined that both sale of coffee and tea
products and provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions are capable of being distinct. The fact that the
Group regularly engages in the sale of coffee and tea
products and provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions on a stand-alone basis indicates that its
customers can benefit from both on their own. The Group
also determined that the promises to transfer coffee and
tea products and to provide the coffee and tea machine
solutions are distinct within the context of the contract.
The sale of coffee and tea products and provision of
coffee and tea machine solutions are not inputs to a
combined item in the contract. The Group is not
providing a significant integration service because the
presence of the sale of coffee and tea products and
provision of coffee and tea machine solutions together in
the contract does not result in any additional or combined
functionality and neither the coffee and tea products nor
the provision of coffee and tea machine solutions
customises the other. In addition, the sale of coffee and
tea products and provision of coffee and tea machine
solutions are not highly interdependent or highly
interrelated, because the Group would be able to sell the
coffee and tea products even if a customer declined the
Groups’ provision of coffee and tea machine solutions
and vice versa. Consequently, the Group allocates a
portion of the transaction price under such arrangement
to the sale of coffee and tea products and to the
provision of coffee and tea machine solutions based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group
“would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it
needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions
of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiaries’
stand-alone credit rating).
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3.

136

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to ageing analysis
and other specific assessments of the Group’s
inventories, projections of expected future saleability of
goods based on historical sales patterns and other
specific attributes, and management experience and
judgement. Based on such review, write-down of
inventories will be made when the carrying amounts of
inventories decline below their estimated net realisable
values. Due to changes in market and economic
environment and customers’ preference, actual saleability
of goods and actual selling prices that could be realised
might be different from the original estimation and profit
or loss could be affected by differences in this estimation.

Provision of expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The loss allowance for impairing of trade receivables is
made based on the assessment of their recoverability and
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables as well as
other quantitative and qualitative information and on
management’s judgement and assessment of forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customers’ actual default in the
future. Information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 16 to the financial
statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including right-of
use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets, observable
market prices, or transaction prices of similar assets in
less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices,
valuation techniques, as appropriate, less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

or other
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

4.

138

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the beverage solutions (“Beverage Solutions”)
segment processes and distributes coffee, tea and
related complementary products, sells food and
beverages, coffee and tea machines and other
related products, and provides coffee and tea
machine solutions; and

(b)  the food products (“Food Products”) segment trades
frozen food.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of
adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss
before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that interest income and non-
lease-related finance costs as well as head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on
a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with

reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BESWER ()

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

B 22023128318
ILEE

Segment revenue (note 5) 2 EUA (M 5E5)
Sales to external customers HETINER 717,431 11,499 728,930
Segment results DEEE 68,728 (753) 67,975
Reconciliation: #HAE
Interest income M EWA 5,292
Corporate and other unallocated 7% M H bk 5 Fl 5 2

expenses, net FE (13,747)
Finance costs (other than interest EIE KA (HEEEF &

on lease liabilities) BR 1) (522)
Profit before tax BR T A& A 58,998
Other segment information: HtaHER !
Depreciation and amortisation I8 I 38,365 926 39,291
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5 & W SR IE L (E # )

receivables (410) (27) (437)
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IERE 1,844 - 1,844
Write-off of trade receivables B 5 e W IR M 35 361 2 363
Write-down of inventories to net  FE R E Al &5 FE

realisable value 619 = 619
Write-off of inventories FEMHE 232 204 436
Loss on disposal of items of HEME BER

property, plant and equipment HEIEE BB 643 56 699
Capital expenditure* BARRE L 37,688 96 37,784

The capital expenditure consists of additions to property,

plant and equipment of HK$22,924,000 and deposits paid
for purchases of items of property, plant and equipment of
HK$14,860,000 during the year.

*

BEARXBREFAREDE  BHEER

522,924,000 70 U NEBEWE K
ERREEE B M $£14,860,000 T °

—E=FFR
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

140

4.

&

N

4 B

Z D EER (F)

(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023 ®2023%F12H31H
Segment assets PEHEE 500,073* 6,135 506,208
Reconciliation: k-
Elimination of intersegment 7 HB i e U5 R IE 8

receivables (30,097)
Corporate and other unallocated TEREMADER

assets EE 259,006
Total assets BERE 735,117
Segment liabilities PHEE 140,207 27,749 167,956
Reconciliation: ik
Elimination of intersegment payables 4> &b [ J& 1< 3018 % $4 (30,097)
Corporate and other unallocated rEREMKDER

liabilities Bf& 6,822
Total liabilities BERRE 144,681

*

Included non-current assets held for sale of HK$4,753,000.

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2023
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

Segment revenue (note 5)
Sales to external customers

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Interest income

Corporate and other unallocated
expenses, net

Finance costs (other than interest
on lease liabilities)

Profit before tax

Other segment information:

Depreciation and amortisation

Reversal of impairment of trade
receivables

Impairment of trade receivables

Write-off of trade receivables

Write-down of inventories to net
realisable value

Write-off of inventories

Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Capital expenditure*

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

B =2022F12 A31H
HFE

2 WA (K1 5£5)
HETINEEP

D ERE

B BA

EEREMARD X
R

BEKA(HERENE
BN

B % A i 7

Hitt o BMER
I R
B 5 YRR E R T

8 5 M FOR B
5 8 W 5B 38
FRSHETERFE

HENE  WER
REBEEEE
BAR X

The capital expenditure consists of additions to property,
plant and equipment of HK$63,370,000 and deposits paid
for purchases of items of property, plant and equipment of
HK$12,958,000 during the year ended 31
2022.

December

4. RESBER (&)

Beverage Food
Solutions Products Total
ERREIRH R &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAT
680,019 15,919 695,938
70,116 (2,357) 67,759
2,450
(12,675)
(295)
57,239
39,657 1,128 40,785
(21) - (21)
2,135 140 2,275
168 — 168
131 161 292
922 504 1,426
69 — 69
76,328 — 76,328

A

\

i
S
o

BEARRY BIEEHE2022F12831H IEF
EAREBME - KE K& #63,370,000%
TN REEME BERREEED
1% 412,958,000 T °
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

142

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Segment assets
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment

receivables

Corporate and other unallocated

assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Reconciliation:

Elimination of intersegment payables
Corporate and other unallocated

liabilities

Total liabilities

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

A2022F12A31H
SHEE

#HE -

75 8 FE Wk 1B 8

bEREMADE

BERE

e

DHEE

73 e & 5 3K08 4 45

EEREMRDE
afE

\
A
g
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N
CRY
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4. BEIBER (&)

Beverage
Solutions
BEHEKERSG
HK$’'000
FET

545,452

145,144

Food
Products
Bm
HK$’000
FET

13,739

26,780

Total
A
HK$’000
T

559,191

(20,265)

191,645

730,571

171,924

(20,265)

3,676

165,335



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Hong Kong BB
Mainland China A B A At
Others A

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets
Hong Kong i
Mainland China H A

The non-current asset information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax
assets and financial assets.

Information about a major customer

The Group’s revenues from sales to an external customer
reported in the Beverage Solutions segment, which in
aggregate exceeded 10% of the Group’s total revenue,
amounted to HK$179,089,000 for the year (2022:
HK$197,351,000).

4.

A

RETWER (F)

i 12 &R

(a) KEINBEFLHKA

2023
20234
HK$°000
FER

492,303
219,344
17,283

728,930

2022
20224
HK$’000
FHET

459,210
224,201
12,627

695,938

EFRRABRTIRETFPAEMLE

ol

b) FFEEE
2023
20234
HK$’000
THBxT

122,863
90,472

213,335

2022
2022%F
HK$'000
THAT

118,875
89,701

208,576

LR EEEMIRIEEEMN
EHZ25 I ABREEREERE

MEREE-

AR-—BFEFEFNESR

FA AKEERERKE R D FE HRA
REHET BIBEFWKRAR
179,089,000 7T (20224F : 197,351,000/

7T)

—=EER

RABEEBEZERERAR

C H R AREBERAB10% °
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. W#zm - Hitlg AR W= F5E

NET

Revenue Y 22

An analysis of disaggregated information of the Group’s AEENEFAEHORANBHEER DM
revenue from contracts with customers is as follows: RN

Year ended 31 December 2023 & £2023%F12831H 1t

FE

Types of goods or services EmBREER
Sales of coffee, tea and other HEMDE - X R HEAM

related complementary products  fHE AL E E @ 697,372 - 697,372
Sales of frozen food HEZRARM - 11,499 11,499
Income from provision of HE 1L OO0 O A T SR )

coffee and tea machine AR 75 19 A

solutions 20,059 = 20,059

Total revenue from contracts with B &L A £58

customers 717,431 11,499 728,930
Geographical markets iy BT 45
Hong Kong BB 480,804 11,499 492,303
Mainland China A 219,344 - 219,344
Others Hip 17,283 = 17,283

Total revenue from contracts with B FE & LKA LHE
customers 717,431 11,499 728,930

Timing of revenue recognition A B2 B [

Goods transferred at a point in time R X B HEZ E R 697,372 11,499 708,871
Services transferred over time REBRRREY RS 20,059 = 20,059

Total revenue from contracts with B &L A £58
customers 717,431 11,499 728,930
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202312 A31H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 B ZE2022F12A31H It

FE
Types of goods or services EmBREER
Sales of coffee, tea and other HEMYE X RHM
related complementary products HBELREE SR
Sales of frozen food HEEZRRM
Income from provision of TR UM R I SR E
coffee and tea machine AR 7% 80 e A

solutions

Total revenue from contracts with B FE &L A E58
customers

Geographical markets ity & T 45
Hong Kong A
Mainland China B A3
Others H At

Total revenue from contracts with B FE &L A E58
customers

Timing of revenue recognition U A 7 57 B R
Goods transferred at a point in time NEBEZEZE R
Services transferred over time REBRRRES RS

Total revenue from contracts with B FE & 4 A 5
customers

The total amount of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 which are expected
to be recognised as revenue within one year amounted to
HK$731,000 (2022: HK$917,000).

5. W Ht WA R W= FE(E)

Wz (48)

Beverage Food
Solutions Products Total
BERKERD R &
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET
660,066 — 660,066
— 15,919 15,919
19,953 — 19,953
680,019 15,919 695,938
443,911 15,299 459,210
223,581 620 224,201
12,627 — 12,627
680,019 15,919 695,938
660,066 15,919 675,985
19,953 — 19,953
680,019 15,919 695,938

R2023F12A31H » DB EH TENE
FRETXIFDRBITHNRZELL
2w BHRN —FRBERAEUA A731,000
7 7T (20224 : 917,000/ 1) °
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. W#H -HEMWARKZ S5E(£&)

5.

146

NET (Continued)

Other income and gains, net

An analysis of other income and gains, net is as follows:

Htb WA R s %88

2023
20234
HK$’000
F&ET
Bank interest income RITHFI B WA 5,292
Government subsidies* B il Bk~ -
Gains on changes in fair value of fTH @ TERAFEEZH K
derivative financial instruments, e
net -
Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 W 55 5 5 -
Others Hh 645
5,937
* Government subsidies represent subsidies granted under

the Employment Support Scheme of the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are

no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

subsidies.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on bank borrowings
Interest on lease liabilities

R1T 18 BN &
S|

HEREBEMNE

6. BERAX
BMERADHWMT
2023
20234

HK$’000
FERT

522
518

1,040
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2022
20224
HK$'000
FAET

2,450
4,671

963
2,395
773

11,252

2022
20224
HK$'000
FAT

295
597

892
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

7.

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold"
Depreciation”:
Right-of-use assets
Other items of property, plant
and equipment

Auditor’s remuneration

Amortisation of intangible
assets™

Lease payments not included
in the measurement of
lease liabilities

Foreign exchange differences,
net*

Reversal of impairment of
trade receivables*

Impairment of trade
receivables®

Write-off of trade receivables*

Employee benefit expenses
(including directors’
remuneration disclosed
in note 8)":
Salaries, wages, fees,

allowances and bonuses

Pension scheme contributions

(defined contribution
schemes)*

Write-down of inventories to
net realisable value*

Write-off of inventories™®

Loss on disposal of items of
property, plant and
equipment*

Losses/(gains) on changes in
fair value of derivative
financial instruments, net*

B 77 E A

FE
A A

H i % - B R
REE A

% BB B =

A AHEREFEDN
HE MR

ME S BFRR
B 5 e W IR RE B [
B 5 R GRIBR A"

B 5 & WK TR M8

& B8 A B X
(BB 8 EE &Y
EEHM:

e IE- -BR- MK
TE4T
BRIKEFTEIMEFR (R ERK

5tH)

FERAETSRFE

HEMZE  BELREEE
SEil

TESMTARTFEHEZES
BiE (ak) Fa8

Notes

B

B Bt A Jat A
AEBBBADRNENE/GFAT
bl & B W AE X

13

13

14

24

16

16

k

2023
2023
HK$°000
FET
447,988
12,800
26,401
39,201
2,181

920

1,013
586
(437)

1,844
363

110,662

5,956

116,618

619
436

699

185

RABEEBEZERERAR

2022
20224
HK$’000
F&TT

420,818

13,912

26,759
40,671

2,206

114

111,806

6,145

117,951

292
1,426

69

(963)
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7.

148

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

*k

The cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$488,377,000 (2022: HK$461,176,000),
including, but not limited to, cost of inventories sold of
HK$447,988,000 (2022: HK$420,818,000), depreciation
charge of HK$15,855,000 (2022: HK$16,559,000) and
employee benefit expenses of HK$13,758,000 (2022:
HK$13,584,000).

These amounts are included in “Other income and gains,
" or “Other expenses, net
consolidated statement of profit or loss depending on
whether they had a credit or debit balance for the
respective years.

»

net on the face of the

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions. At 31 December 2023, the Group has no
forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions
to the pension schemes in future years (2022: Nil).

Amortisation of intangible assets for the years are included
in “General and administrative expenses” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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B BEETEREEFEKA
447,988,000/ JT (20224 : 420,818,000
7 70) ~ 3T & B 215,855,000 JT (2022
F 16,559,000/ 7T) + LA REBEFFAX
13,758,000 7T (20224 : 13,584,000/
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023

8.

202312 A31H
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8.
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
Fees we
Other emoluments: H Al 2 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits ¥ & -~ AL R E W@ A
in kind
Performance related bonuses % B TEA
Pension scheme contributions BKREE g'H A

(a)

(defined contribution schemes) (REMHKETED

Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

Mr. Tang Kwai Chang HEEZEE
Mr. Wong Man Fai F kA
Mr. Lok Kung Chin Hardy B A5 IE B &

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2022: Nil).

==
=
=

EEHM
REFEHAX

ZOR/N *T 15 5] 8£383(1)(a) »

ZFrEs EmAR-

Al &
(b) ~ () B (& K
I

%.5 NE|(FBEESHZER) B HIFE230
FiEZFRNEEHIMOT
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
900 900
9,516 9,221
339 564
701 675
10,556 10,460
11,456 11,360
(a) BIAFHITES
FRIMFEILIERTEENRS
o
2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHBxT FHET
300 300
300 300
300 300
900 900
FRWEMBIIEATES I FH
1th, 357 BN (20224F : #E) o
T oFFY BEBEBIERERAR 149
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 8. EZEZHM (#Z)

(b) Non-executive directors (b) FEHMITEE
There were no fees or other emoluments paid or FAVERIFENTESCNHER
payable to the non-executive directors during the B #2 & 3k H h Er B (20224F ¢ &) o

year (2022: Nil).

(c) Executive directors (c) BITES

2023 2023
Mr. Wong Tat Tong HETELE - 6,420 188 448 7,056
Ms. Fan Yee Man B ME = 1,792 93 179 2,064
Mr. Kam Chun Pong Bernard SEBELE - 1,304 58 74 1,436
= 9,516 339 701 10,556
2022 2022
Mr. Wong Tat Tong HETELE - 6,337 282 441 7,060
Ms. Fan Yee Man BE5ME - 1,713 168 168 2,049
Mr. Kam Chun Pong Bernard SEBELE - 1,171 114 66 1,351
- 9,221 564 675 10,460
There was no arrangement under which a director waived FABEEE R ESR B P T 5 M
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year B HE (20224 : £) -
(2022 Nil).
During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by FA - AREEIW M E SN SEN
the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or BN A 3 0 AR &= B 3 N AR &R (B 1R RO B2
upon joining the Group or as compensation for the loss of JBh ok 1E 2 B B8 1) 47 18 (20224F « #8]) o

office (2022: Nil).
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2022: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits ¥ & « ER R EWFIZE
in kind

Performance related bonuses

Pension scheme contributions

(defined contribution schemes)

B TEAT
RIKEE IR
(FLE ka8l

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

TEEEFMHMES

FRN AEEBREEaFNEEREN
BEE(2022F - MB)  HEHFMFIE
BN EXHAS TR 2 FWIEAR A
BEEFRFBTHRABEN =% (2022F =
B)ETHNEENTFMFBLOT

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHE T F#& T
4,839 4,846

79 30

125 95
5,043 4,971

HEHMNTUTHEENSSEHES Gkl
EMETBERAB)ABRLT :

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T Z1,500,0005% 7T — 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 22,000,000 7T 3 2
3 3

During the year, no remuneration was paid or payable by
the Group to the above individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for the
loss of office (2022: Nil).

FA-AEEYERAEBAADSSHE
A B % - 15 %S0 AR S B 8
AN SR (8 15 B 52 B K B B 8 (B (20224 -
&) o

Tocaad BEABERERAF 150



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

10.

152

INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland
China have been provided at the rate of 25% (2022:
25%).

Current — Hong Kong BEy — /B
Charge for the year FAZH
Under/(over)provision in prior BEFEBETIR

years (FEEE R B)

Current — Mainland China BNEf — PR A
Charge for the year FAZH

Deferred IR

Total tax charge for the year FARIB LR

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

10. T8 %
BEABRENHINEBL  KEEHEA
TR ERENER -
EBMNERIBEBEFRNES BRI MG
= FE R B % M B916.5% (20224 : 16.5% )
PR EAREE BB F B R
SBHEMAFNTHAERBTERIN - Z
B B A & B 2,000,000 7T (20224 :
2,000,0007% JT) & & &R i '@ A $28.25%
(20221F : 8.25% ) @ B - H &4 B R Bl a
I BI3216.5% (20224 : 16.5% ) & i o
B0 0 1 JE SR R i B 2 B I8 Th3%25% (2022
F 1 25% )M RETIE o
2023 2022
20235 20224
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHBxT FET
7,731 7,090
7 (159)
1,829 3,649
25 720 (765)
10,287 9,815



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

10. G (&)
(R EBEER R H 2 RBAEF 2

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate to the tax
charge at the Group’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax at the Hong Kong statutory

tax rate

Higher tax rate for specific
jurisdictions or enacted by local

authority

Adjustments in respect of current
tax of previous periods

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax losses utilised from previous

periods

Tax losses not recognised

Tax charge at the Group’s effective

tax rate

»

5 B Ak A

E\

BEBEERERFTENRIEA

BAMES S R

2023
2023%F
HK$’000
FTET

58,998

9,735

B TE BDA B B [ 3 05 14 B

R E R E
81 P N B E e S
BARBBA
AR
FE 38 £ 990 9 B 0B 5 8
KRR B A

BAGEEERBREAEDN
PIE >

793

(489)
306

(147)
82

10,287

BEREERB X
HBZBRAXHZHEET

2022
20224
HK$’000
FHET

57,239

9,444

1,193

(159)

(1,469)
235

571

9,815
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B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

11.

154

DIVIDENDS

The dividends recognised as distributions during the
reporting period and proposed by the Company after the

end of the reporting period are as follows:

Dividends recognised as
distributions during the reporting
period:

2021 final dividend — HK3.50

cents per ordinary share % 3.505% {IL
2022 interim dividend — HK1.76 20224 R Hifg &

cents per ordinary share f%1.767 L
2022 final dividend — HK2.19

cents per ordinary share A2 19711l
2023 interim dividend — HK1.84 20234/ Hi % B,

cents per ordinary share A% 1.847% {1l

2021F R HI M B

a
e

bz
s

2022F REAE B

o
P

a
P

- Eﬁ /éLI\

IR IR - A D AR RS BRI
SRR EZ BEMT

REHRRERR/D IR ZE

Dividend proposed after the end of k2 Bi R 18 @& Kk 1 AU A% B ¢

the reporting period:

Special dividend — HK13.87
cents (2022: Nil) per ordinary
share

Proposed final dividend —
HK2.22 cents (2022: HK2.19
cents) per ordinary share

The special dividend has been calculated by reference to
720,731,512 shares in issue on 4 March 2024. It was

paid on 11 March 2024.

The proposed final dividend for the year
31 December 2023 has been calculated by reference to
720,731,512 shares in issue on 28 March 2024 and is
subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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BRIRE — SREER
13.8778 1l (20224 : #E)

EBEAHKRE —
%I ER2.228 1
(20224 : 2.195:1)

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
I
- 25,226
- 12,685
Tim
15,784 —
I
13,261 —
29,045 37,911
100,000 —
16,000 15,784
116,000 15,784

5 R B J) 2 E R2024%F384H 2
720,731,512 E BT M ETES L o
AIA% B T 202453 11 B IRt ©

H £2023F12H31H IEFE R & R AR
B2 £ R2024F3 A28H #9720,731,512
REBITROFE - BHEARFRENE
ERRAFAREG EHERFAIEE -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BRRIEBEGREABGEER

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE ZF

PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for BE2023F12A31H IEFE - BREARR
the year ended 31 December 2023 is based on the profit FMIOBEBEFRNERAREBAERTE AR
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the EFEREMNRFAREFITEBRIMNETF
parent and the weighted average number of ordinary 5 #1720,732,000% (20224 : 720,732,000
shares of 720,732,000 (2022: 720,732,000) in issue during BRIFTESFH -

the year.

The Group has no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in B £2023F K2022F12H31H I F 5 -
issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and AEBVEEBHTERHE ST AR -
2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share TEERERNREERFTIRE

are based on:

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAET
Earnings ZF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity A LAGT & & B E A & #5852 7
holders of the parent, used in the W QA EBEERTE AR
basic and diluted earnings per 16 %
share calculations 48,711 47,424
’000 000
F & T I
Shares il
Weighted average number of AU ESRERR#ES
ordinary shares in issue during BFNMFEANEBHITERER
the year, used in the basic and INHEF 5 E
diluted earnings per share
calculations 720,732 720,732

Ap
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

% R M (]

31 December 2023

2023%F12A31H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME - -BEREE
31 December 2023 20235128318
At 1 January 2023: R2023F1A18 :
Cost 2 20,821 68,180 89,001 95,955 184,882 100,086 9,681 390,604 479,605
Accumulated depreciation and ZHNERFE
impairment (4,609) (52,659) (57,268) (26,129 (119,789) (77,862) (8,846) (232,626) (289,894)
Net carrying amount SEFE 16,212 15,521 31,733 69,826 65,008 20204 835 157,978 189,711

At 1 January 2023, net of acoumulated  52023F1 A1R - MK 23t

depreciation and impaiment TERBE 16,212 15,521 31,733 69,826 65,003 2,204 835 157,978 189,711
Additions RE = 14,352 14,352 o 22,347 8,492 = 30,839 45,191
Depreciation provided for the year FRiENE (485) (12,315) (12,800) (8,153) (15,130) (1,732 (386) (26401) (39,201)
Disposals/written off He /1 = (26) (26) = (908) (538) (266) (1,112) (1,738)
Transfer to assets classiied as held for sale  BHEHEAZEHES

(note 19) BE(Mi9) - - - (176) (1,861) (2,716) - (475 (4,753)
Exchange realignment EiRE (288) 14 (274) (422) (593) (117) - (1,132 (1,406)

At 31 Decerber 2023, net of accumulated 2023127318 1k

depreciation and impairment ZHAEREE 15,439 17,546 32,085 66,075 68,948 19,613 183 154,819 187,804
At 31 December 2023: 0235 12A318 :
Cost WA 20,439 81,429 101,868 91,817 170,242 74,740 8,328 345,127 446,995
Accumulated depreciation and ZHNERRE
impairment (5,000) (63,883) (68,883) (25,142) (101,204) (55,127) (8,145) (190,308) (259,191)
Net carrying amount RHFE 15,439 17,546 32,085 66,075 68,948 19,613 183 154,819 187,804
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. M¥E--BERRKE(E)

(Continued)
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
FREZE BREEE
Furniture,
Leasehold Leased Plant and fixtures and Motor
[and properties Total Buildings machinery equipment vehicles Total Total
B EE
RELH HENE aif BF HEREH RERZE Bk aif aif
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tin TER TET TihL TEL TR TAL TEn TEL
(note (b)) (note ()
(D) (&)
31 December 2022 20025128318
At 1 January 2022: 20221418 :
Cost WA 22,845 64,081 86,926 54,612 183,755 102,465 10,266 351,088 438,014
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERGE
impaiment t516) (3,645) #3,161) paTI (116524) (75.836) 6769 5000 (269,069
Net carrying amount BEEE 18,329 25,436 43,765 29,833 67,231 26,629 1,493 125,186 168,951
At 1 January 2022, net of acoumulated  1\2022F1 A1R - MB R&
depreciation and impairment NERAE 18,329 25,436 43,765 29,833 67,231 26,629 1,493 125,186 168,951
Additions RE - 3,639 3,639 44,847 17,436 3,921 201 066,405 70,044
Depreciation provided for the year EfsiENE 510) (13402 (13912 2401 (15,869 1,722 (668) 26,759) (£0,671)
Disposals he - - - - (547) 08) (191) (764 (764
Exchange realignment EiRE (1,607) (152) (1,759) (2,353) (3,159) (578 - (6,090) (7.849)
At 31 December 2022, net of acoumulated 1202012318 - IR &
depreciation and impairment HHERKEE 16,212 15,521 31,733 69,826 66,093 22,224 835 157,978 189,711
At 31 December 2022: 20225128318 -
Cost KA 20,821 68,180 89,001 95,955 184,882 100,086 9,681 390,604 479,605
Accumulated depreciation and ZHNERFE
impairment 4,609) 52,659) (57,268) (26,129) (119,789 (77,862) (8,846) (232,626) (289,894)
Net carrying amount FEFE 16,212 15,521 31,733 69,826 66,093 22,224 835 157,978 189,711
TR CFEY BEBEBRERBRAT 157



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14.

158

13. X -BERKE(E)

(Continued)
Notes: =
(@)  The Company leases certain of its offices, warehouses and (8 ARFHEEEHETHAZ AERETL

staff quarters. Leases for these assets are negotiated

terms ranging from 2 to 5 years and all the lease

payments are fixed.

Included in the Group’s leasehold land are two warehouses
in Mainland China, with costs of HK$653,000 and
HK$601,000, respectively, which the Group has not been
able to obtain their real estate ownership certificates. The

two warehouses were fully depreciated in prior years.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31

December 2023

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated

amortisation

Amortisation provided during the year
Exchange realignment

At

At

31 December 2023

31 December 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2023

BE REEEMNHERRESF M
PRERENREBERE-

for

AREENMAE LB EmEL R P B R
HHEEE - KA 5 5l A653,000% 7T &
601,000/ 70 * AEE KEEMEGHF
EffEEZ -ZmMEEEERBEFE
EHTE -

14. B EE

Trademark
[
HK$’000
FHE T
2023%12A31H
R2023F1 A1H B A » B
R 5 91
F R ETHIE (90)
ME W 58 2 (1)
M2023F12 A31H -
72023512 4318 -
BN 1,076
RET (1,076)
REFE —_



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

31 December 2022

At 1 January 2022:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carry amount

Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated
amortisation

Amortisation provided during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2022 and
at 1 January 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

14, B EE (&)

Trademark
[ERE
HK$’000
FET
2022412 A31H
R2022F1A18
DN 1,202
Eag £ (982)
EmEFE 220
R2022F1 A1HE KA » 1k
ZEET 5 220
FNFT IR #E (114)
M o 5 2 (15)
R2022F12 A31H 91
Ro022FE12A31H &
2023F1 818 :
X AR 1,096
ZE AT 5 (1,005)
BREFE 91

T —FF% ERBEEZERBRAGE 159
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B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023

2023412 A31H
15. INVENTORIES 15. &
2022
20224
HK$'000
FHET
Raw materials R A 77,614 119,534
Work-in-progress £ & i 254 718
Finished goods 2K & 53,634 75,668
131,502 195,920
16. TRADE RECEIVABLES 16. EZ E WA
2022
20224
HK$'000
FHET
Trade receivables g 5 W EIE 126,252 119,445
Impairment PERE] (11,083) (9,816)
115,169 109,629

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where the Group
normally requires cash on delivery. The credit periods
generally range from 30 to 120 days. Each customer has
a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a
credit control team to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by management. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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AEERERFPIIUZRGEREZL
FEEAT MFERFPAREEREIHN
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 16. EZEWFIE (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end RBERR BEFEWBHIBZERE DT
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net (REZAHTHNKREEREH BT

of loss allowance, is as follows:

2022
20224

HK$'000

FAET

Within 30 days 30&A A 100,546 94,171
31 to 60 days 31E60K 7,614 8,654
61 to 90 days 61ZE90K 4,844 4,140
91 to 120 days 912120k 1,435 1,393
121 to 180 days 121E180% 396 894
Over 180 days R iB180K 334 377
115,169 109,629

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

trade receivables are as follows:

B RWBEREZBRERESHNT

2022

20224

HK$’000

FAET

At beginning of year R EH 9,816 8,211
Impairment losses recognised B ERBRESE 1,844 2,275
Impairment losses reversed B EREEE (437) (21)
Exchange realignment ME H, 58 B (140) (649)
At end of the year RE R 11,083 9,816
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B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

16.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value
of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Set out below is the information about the

16. ESEWRF

RIE (48

RERSE AP RAREREETRE
D UETERMEEER - BEXHE
RAREABEUBERANZEEFL D
*Ihﬁﬂ (AN IE 2 &) & B A B 2K

AEE -ZAERBRIARRNELR
Eﬁgﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁ/\#&iﬁﬂsﬁ—f MERBE
TR E AR ROR R AR A 54 TRRI Y
EEIASEEH BRASKERAER
EEFENEZEKS
FrEcslan s

AEMEERRE

credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables
using a provision matrix:

2023 20234
Credit-impaired receivables 1= B 8 (& & WL FLIE 100% 7,360 7,360
Trade receivables aged: B S EWGRIE R
Current to 30 days past Bl HA == 280 HABOK
due 0.69% 111,901 776
31 to 60 days past due # HI31=60K 23.67% 3,439 814
61 to 90 days past due 8 Hi61 290K 30.05% 1,075 323
91 to 120 days past due A HI91 = 120K 56.10% 877 492
121 to 180 days past due # #1121 2180k 76.60% 423 324
Over 180 days past due 8 Hf8 38 180K 84.45% 1,177 994
126,252 11,083
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B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

2022 20224

Credit-impaired receivables 1= & J& (& & U 7% 18

Trade receivables aged: B 5 R HRIE 2 R -
Current to 30 days past BN HA = 8 HiBOK
due

31 to 60 days past due B HIB1 = 60K
61 to 90 days past due w1 Hie1 290K
91 to 120 days past due #HI91 =120k
121 to 180 days past due  #HI121E 180K
Over 180 days past due B HARB 3B 180K

17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Prepayments TEAS R IE
Deposits i

Other receivables B b e U 3R
Less: Non-current portion B FEBNEREE
Current portion Bl AR & >

16. E 5 EIWIE (&)

Expected
credit loss
rate
BHEE
BiE X

100%

0.65%
11.86%
26.52%
46.95%
64.55%
93.31%

17. ANFE

A

4 4R

Gross
carrying Expected
amount credit loss
EHEE
RBERE 8
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FETT
6,926 6,926
107,015 697
2,294 272
1,320 350
279 131
220 142
1,391 1,298
119,445 9,816
ek HMEKRIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&ET F& T
8,437 11,013
2,815 2,887
2,403 5,649
13,655 19,549
(1,519) (1,519
12,136 18,030
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B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

17.

18.

164

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, the
minimal.

loss allowance was assessed to be

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances Re RRITHEH
Time deposits 7 B 1F K
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$96,667,000 (2022: HK$57,530,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one day
and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposits rates. The bank
balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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17.

ERARE -REREMEWRFIE
(4&

ETA LA sRH) S R & B BT BRI A HE R
ek R RS B IER EGRIBE B o I
20234 NM2022F 12 A31H @ E B B EFT
EABMD -

CHRERREEEY

2023 2022
20235 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
168,324 110,080
85,428 79,709
253,752 189,789

RIBEBRR  AEBUARE ([ARE])
FHEMIE S MIRITE % D B A96,667,000
70 (20224 : 57,530,000/ 7C) - AR
TR BERALBAEMER R BREHE
A Hh B OB B B2 AG 1) R KBS B - S BE [
NEEEBHATE) ~NEEEEBRERE
KEINNEZEBWIRT BARBHBRA
H i EHE o

HTROTASREMBRITFE R XK
FREREA B - %2 HIE B A 7 A
SIBAEEATTE  RFAKEHAKES
FRME - W% B R EFRA X
WA B - RITERREREFRDF N
PMEE R of M HA 0 58 H) RE SRV ERTT o



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

19. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 19. 7 AR ELENEE

Non-current assets held for sale ZFEHENIERBEE

Building and equipment BFRHEE

In November 2023, the board of directors of a subsidiary
resolved to sell a property, together with certain
machinery and equipment of the Group, which had been
used mainly for the Group’s business conducted in that
property, (collectively referred to as the “Non-current
Assets”) to an independent third party (the “identified
purchaser”). This is in line with a disposal plan then
committed by management. Before the end of the
reporting period, sale deposits totalling HK$2,580,000,
representing 15% of the total consideration, were
received from the identified purchaser. The sale was

completed on 20 February 2024, in line with
management’s original expectation.
Accordingly, for these financial statements, the

Non-current Assets with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,753,000 as at 31 December 2023
have been classified and accounted for as assets held for
sale as their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction.

" =FFH

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
4,753 —

2023F11 A — B RARMNESS
FRE—BBIUIE=H(CEREH])
PEREB —EME  ERE THERR
BECHEEAEEARASERZDE
ETHEB(RBIERBEE]) - L8
RAEEEBEBAHZNEETE - R
SHKRA BRAEEREH WG SR
& & #2,580,000% L(ME & K B 8
15%) ° #% i & B 12024F2H208 =
B A EREBNRYITER-

EHit iz Sz s - R20234F
12 A31 8 /9 B ™ {8 494,753,000/% 7T B9 3E
RBEEEHEHARIARBIELESR
E RAHFEEAESIZABLERS
i qE
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

20. TRADE PAYABLES 20. ESENRE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of RMEBKR BHENRBZERE DT
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as (REZAHWT :
follows:

2022

20224

HK$’000

FET

Within 1 month 18 A N 62,544 75,808
1 to 2 months 1Z221# A 45 1,805
2 to 3 months 2Z231E A 18 142
Over 3 months 8 1B31E A 753 154
63,360 77,909

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled within 30 to 60 days.

EHEMARE LR B K —KN30E60XK

MAELT -

21. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21, EsFREREMEASRKE
2022
20224
Notes HK$’000
k=2 T T
Accruals FERT IR TE 38,109 39,052
Contract liabilities EHEE (a) 731 917
Other payables H fth & 1 3R (b) 2,712 2,086
Deposits received (note 19) B4z & (M 5E19) 2,580 —
44,132 42,055
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B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

21. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Contract liabilities represent advance payments received
from customers for the Group to deliver coffee and tea
products. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2023 and
2022 was mainly due to a decrease in advance payments
received from customers in relation to tea products at the
end of the respective years.

Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as
follows:

At the beginning of the year RE]
Additions NE

Revenue recognised during the year* F AR
At the end of the year RER

* Revenue recognised during the vyear that was

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period amounted to HK$917,000
(2022: HK$1,261,000).

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an
average term of three months.

21.

st RIER b B RRIR (&
B 3 -

@ AHEEERANEBEIMMEREER
i A & = W B FE - 5K I8 © 20234 22022
FHEHNABERYD  TEHRBBEFR
R P IRE B BERE QORI
@( °

FRAEBHNABENESHWT

2023 2022
2023 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE& T FE T

917 1,261
1,239 1,365
(1,425) (1,709)
731 917

* ERBEHVFAEGHEAENE
AR U - £ % 5917,000% 7T
(20224 : 1,261,000 7T) °

(b) H@EMFEL AL FHERR=
@A -
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B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fTHE€®MIA

Liabilities =N
2022
20224
HK$'000
FET
Forward currency contracts REE®EH 161 312
The Group has entered into various forward currency AEBBIUSERPEKSYIUNER
contracts to manage its exchange rate exposures. These HEYRAR ZEEHIIESLHKRIETE
forward currency contracts are not designated for hedge RAREFER  WIEAFEFAEBZE 3
purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or HIPRBERK S LM AT EZ 185,000
loss. Changes in the fair value of non-hedging forward BT F R E H B 8 (20224 : 963,000
currency contracts amounting to HK$185,000 were BILEET AR EERE -
debited (2022: HK$963,000 were credited) to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year.
23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23. st E#1TEX
2022
20224
Effective
interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000
B A
(%) FH A FHET
Current B #8
Trust receipt loans ERBIEER Hong Kong Hong Kong
— unsecured — K Interbank Interbank
Offered Offered
Rate Rate
(“HIBOR”) (“HIBOR)
+1.4% +1.4%
ERRTE BHBRITE
ERBEANE EFEFE
(T& BB On ([BBRIT On
BEKFED demand EEX3)) demand
+1.4% BER 7,130 +1.4% REKR 10,622
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

24. LEASE LIABILITIES
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January M ATEMEREEE

New leases FHEE

Accretion of interest recognised FRNRERHFE LN
during the year

Payments 3%

Early termination of a lease IRATRIEHE
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 &

Carrying amount at W12 A31H M ERE &

31 December

Analysed into: DR
Current portion BN ER &R
Non-current portion FE BN HA &F 9

24,

HEEE

2023
20234
HK$’000
FER

16,024
14,352

518
(12,955)

(26)
44

17,957

7,433

10,524

17,957

BERWT

2022
20224
HK$'000
TAT

25,931
3,639

597
(13,921)

(222)

16,024

11,319

4,705

16,024
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

24,

HEREE)

2022
20224
HK$’000
FHET
Analysed into lease liabilities AMREEHEAE:
repayable:

Within one year —F R 7,433 11,319
In the second year B F 4,780 3,604

In the third to fifth years, BE=FEZFRF
inclusive (BHEEEMF) 5,744 1,101
17,957 16,024

The maturity profile analysis of lease liabilities, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments, is disclosed in
note 35 to the financial statements.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

HEB BN BN IR IE B HREK
AESSPT BN A A ARMBFRIAEMSH -

RESEREEEEBENSRNT

SIn
Bk

2022
20224
HK$’000
FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEABENEL 518 597
Depreciation charge of right-of-use (£ A& ETE L H
assets 12,800 13,912
Expense relating to short-term EREHHEERT GFA—RK
leases (included in general and THREAXZ)
administrative expenses) 1,013 762
Total amount recognised REBEBRE A
in profit or loss 14,331 15,271
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % = M A ()

31 December 2023

2023412 A318
25. DEFERRED TAX 25, & it i 18
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets BRERBEEEREENTRNZ2EFHIT ¢

during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE

At 1 January 2022 M2022F1A1H 7,881 - 7,881
Deferred tax credited to the RENFTAGEERE

consolidated statement ZIEFET T (H5E10)

of profit or loss during the year

(note 10) (175) - (175)
Exchange realignment bE 53 & (340) - (340)
At 31 December 2022 and 2022612 A318 &

at 1 January 2023 20231 HA1H 7,366 = 7,366
Deferred tax charged to the RENFTAGEERE

consolidated statement ZIEERIE (M FE10)

of profit or loss during the year

(note 10) 933 847 1,780
Exchange realignment B 5 & (68) = (68)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%F12A31H 8,231 847 9,078
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

% R M (]

31 December 2023

2023%12 A31H
25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25. IRERIE (&)
Deferred tax assets EEMREEE
At 1 January 2022 7202251 A1H 1 1,744 449 - 2,194
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to  RERIE R,/ (5t A)
the consolidated statement of HEBERREL
profit or loss during the year B8 (i 5E10)
(note 10) 4 671 (85) — 590
Exchange realignment R - (162) - - (162)
At 31 December 2022 and at #2022F12A31H &
1 January 2023 2023F1 A1H 5 2,253 364 = 2,622
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ RERIE R,/ (5t A)
the consolidated statement of DEBRRZEL
profit or loss during the year B8 (M 5E10)
(note 10) (1) 260 (122) 923 1,060
Exchange realignment X AR = (35) = = (35)
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12A31H 4 2,478 242 923 3,647
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25.
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax

balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

R R B W AR R B R
VIR AE TR TR & B R AR

Net deferred tax assets recognised
in consolidated statement of
financial position

Net deferred tax liabilities
recognised in consolidated
statement of financial position

AN

R B ISR R R T R
FYIE FE B TR B 18 3 B

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of HK$31,258,000 (2022: HK$32,149,000), subject
to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
mainly in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries in Mainland China in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

I FE B IR (48

REFIME ETECHELERAMR
EREHRARNEE - REHRED
TOAREMETHEASINAT

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET

2,800 2,622
(8,231) (7,366)
(5,431) (4,744)

AEBREBEENAERTEBEA
31,258,000/ JT (20224 : 32,149,000/ JT)
(EREBANERRAEBEERBAEE) A
EREAERBELEEB AR ZRK
R RF AR ETEEAHESED
MEBAREEE —BEME ELEERM
wAATAAEETEEENRE R AR
TR BMHERZEEERERELET IR

BREPRHOCEEMSHRZE EFERA
MK HIINEIRELERIINEIEEES
I B ZEBUIR10% M TEINRL - ZARE B
200841 A1 H #8 A& % - I 3 A M20074F
12A31BEMNAN - EIINFREEFTB
AEERER B A E BB HE - 78
HEABREKMBIRE - At - KAEEER
72 % 5 R B A Bk S B BT B A ®] §£2008
FIATBREANAF MY IKHKREH
MTEIEL
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

25.

26.

27.

174

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no deferred tax has
been recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it was
not probable at 31 December 2023 and 2022 that these
subsidiaries would distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately HK$133,819,000
and HK$134,939,000 at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Authorised: VERE

2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

HK$0.10 each 7B TT B R R

Issued and fully paid: BEETLRER

720,731,512 (2022: 720,731,512)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
BT H T RAR

RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 83 to 84.

(@) Contributed surplus
Pursuant to a written resolution of the then sole
shareholder of the Company dated 25 August 2017,
the Company reallocated its share premium account
to the contributed surplus by way of reduction of the
entire amount standing to the credit of the share
premium account to nil and transfer of the credit
amount arising from the share premium reduction to
the contributed surplus.
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720,731,5120% (20224 :
720,731,512/1% ) & % E 120.10

25, EIEFIE (&)

20234 K2022F12 8310 » T & 3t &
& [F 7 A B R b A ST A B B A B8 BN
EHRAORELBFNMAISHENH
WRIEERIE - EER A KR2028F &
2022 12H31H ' ZEMWMEB A A £ &
# 2RA ASA] B8 3 Ik B B8 & F o 7R2023F
T2022F 12 A31H » B 7 A B A 3 Y 8
NEMEE BRI &I ERIELER
EHEBENERUEZELBSR05
133,819,000/% 7T %% 134,939,000/% 7T °

26. ERTRAX

2,000,000,000/4% % A% H {€0.10

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T THEIT
200,000 200,000
72,073 72,073

27. 1

ARBERAFE R FEOFENER
REBEREREIENFA R E
RE -

(a) WAZEeR
BB A QA HE M —RER20174F
SH2SHBBMEMEAZRE AL F
BEBROZERETIRZBAR
B FRAABBRMDEER2IE
REFEARES - WK EE RS
BEMEEACERSEEREZAA



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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31 December 2023
202312 A31H

27.

28.

RESERVES (Continueqd)

(b) Statutory reserve funds
Pursuant to the relevant Mainland China rules and
regulations, subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises in Mainland China are required
to transfer no less than 10% of their profits after
taxation, as determined under Mainland China
accounting regulations and their respective articles of
association, to the reserve funds until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of their respective registered
capital. The transfer to the reserve funds must be
made before distributing dividends to shareholders
of the respective subsidiaries.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve

Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign

currency exchange differences arising from the

translation of the financial statements of foreign

operations.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a pre-initial public offering share
option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) and
a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
(collectively, the “Schemes”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The
principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are
similar to the terms of the Share Option Scheme except
that (i) no further options could be granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme established prior to 11
May 2018 (the “Listing Date”); and (i) the exercise price
and the exercise period of the share options are different
as further detailed below.

Eligible participants of the Schemes include, amongst
others, the Company’s executive directors and other
employees of the Group. The Schemes were approved
and adopted on 15 December 2017 (the “Adoption
Date”). The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from the Adoption Date.

27.

28.

" =FFH

e (&

b) ZELAER
R B it BRI R AR 1
BB R RE ¥R AE BB
NE - BARBPEANBETERER
HEAERMAA ERNERLR
10% M BR Bt 8 % 7 5 A 18 A FE
¢ EERESEBREIRERE
M EARIS0% o L ATES 2 IREL
AEMEEMBARAMRKRESIKRK
BATHETT

() EXKBDHE
XK B R IR IS KB
BRZBHAEENDHINEER =
e

B = AF

ADFRAE —FE R DB AR
SHEI(TRORRBT & AT R A B R
— T O 0 e+ ) (B AR A B ) (42 7B
ESOE DECCT )3 T eSS
BHRNAEFERNAEREEE B
WG B AR MM A B E B R R
B A5 21 B AR L+ )T B B AR 0
2018468110 ([ £ B8] A1 slE 0 &
RN BB A B AR T 4 LA
() B #0775 (B R AT S B R AR 51
R T -

ZEHENEGERZ2EERER(ERE
BIRAREMTEERAEEAMES -
Z % 5 8 R2017F12/8158 ([ # B
HAD)EROE XM - B BRI IBE]
Hh - EERESTEIBRHS A KA B HR
it B EI10EF -
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28.

176

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Schemes is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at the Listing Date. The
maximum number of shares issued and issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Schemes
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates which result in the total number of
shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme to such person in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of the
Company.

The total number of options available for grant under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Share Option Scheme
were zero Share and 72,397,931 Shares, respectively, as
at 1 January 2023, and zero Share and 72,397,931
Shares, respectively, as at 31 December 2023.
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28.

B (E

B REBRET S A RENKRITER
BREETERMSEOBRMHEE &%
HERARBR LT HEHEHITREO K
10% » WEM12E A AEREBRED
BOARTTEREASNERAER
SEENENEE REITHBEBAR
BRI A 2 AT B91% o Efa s
— IR Ut TR R BR A R R A X
RAE L HSBRERLE -

AARNBEE THRARIETERRN
TRARSEHEARLBRE  BEEH
BEIIFNTESE - WS WRAR
ATEMRRABIFATESTHEMRK
FHEE AR O A 0B B A B AR
RARERERES S R B SR G
PrEBKRERTERENBEZRL AH
AIE(BHEE R ER12(8 B #E S #
THREITTZRALTHRN AR &
87N N )P AA] B ) 2 3 1T AR 19 #90.1%
FRARBBONE L BB TESE
MAREEBEEEERT  MAEERK
RAE L HSBRERAE -

BRELTAHTHEBEAZTERELANAK
RAIRRRKGRERROERN -

20231 A1R - IRIB & XA EE A
BRES LBREFZTHELOE
IREBE D R BTN &72,397,931 1%
BEAD ¢ 1 R2023F12A31B B D Bl B E
BB A K2 72,397,931 L AL 17 ©
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 28. B X1+ (&

Share Option Scheme

The offer of a grant of share option under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted within 7 days from the
date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme is
determinable by the directors, and ends on a date which
is not later than 10 years from the date of offer of the
share options. The exercise price of share options under
the Share Option Scheme is determinable by the
directors, but shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
offer of the share options, which must be a business day;
(i) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer.

No options were granted or agreed to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The exercise price of share options under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme is HK$0.594 per share and the
share options are exercisable commencing on the day
faling on the Listing Date and ending on the day
immediately before the tenth anniversary of the Listing
Date.

The share options granted prior to the Listing under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme which had not been
exercised before 10 May 2021 (being the day immediately
before the third anniversary of the Listing Date) were
already forfeited or lapsed in all on 10 May 2021
pursuant to the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme. As such, the Company had no share options
outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as
at 31 December 2022 and 2023.

T =FFW

BRETE
BEBRETSREBRENEZLNAIRN
SHRPRATERERARAIAAH
1TBTREREEREEMN BIBEERE
EIREMERETEHHESETE I
REREZAHBHET TEMOFER
R ERETEIETHERENITEE
HEFETE WIAFERTIESE ()
RRARIRORBREZDEH (ARE:?
B) TR BRKRAFNBEHE ()R
ARONEEENESAMEXEE
BMRXREA®REBEXRMITFAKRTE: &
(AN ARKRHORNENBHNEE -

B BN B A M AT 81 A K - AR IR X
BB RAT R M EARE -

BXNMABRENBERETS
REBXAREZEERBRETE  BK
BOITEERER0L94E T - BEBERE
ARETHHEREEEER FTHEH
mtEAER — BT -

BEEBAAHZEEMBERETEE LT
AR i 7A2021F5 8108 (A12# F™ A
Hm=AF—B)MARITEERE -
B R2021F5 A10B IR IE B X A & 5l
IR SN IER 2 IR R - A
Ift » 20234 202212 A31H » AR A
BMEREE R AFREESITBRETE N
RITEH BB HE -
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

178

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$14,352,000 (2022:
HK$3,639,000) and HK$14,352,000 (2022:
HK$3,639,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for properties.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities
2023

At 1 January 2023 7R2023F1H1H
Changes from financing cash &l& IR & & &
flows

Non-cash changes Rz EE
New leases FHEE
Accretion of interest 7 B K

Early termination of a lease BRI ILTHE
Effect of changes in foreign  [EXE &M T E
exchange rates

At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H
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2. MEBERERMT

(@) XEEFBREXS
& F2023%12H31H IF F E ' &
CSERMENBRELRKESNES
FTRAEEERHEBEGENIER
& N B14,352,000% JT (20224 :
3,639,000/ Jt) &% 14,352,000 JT
(20224 : 3,639,000/ 7T ) °

(b) REBMEETHNEENET

2023%

Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
AP RMITERK HEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THET
10,622 16,024
(3,492) (12,955)

- 14,352
- 518
- (26)

- 44

7,130 17,957
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)
activities (Continued)
2022

At 1 January 2022
Changes from financing cash
flows

Non-cash changes

New leases

Accretion of interest

Effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates

At 31 December 2022

(c)
The total

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

5@2022@1 )EH H

JEH & &

NHE

ﬂéﬁﬁ
[EREHHTE

202212 A31H

Total cash outflow for leases
cashflow for leases

included in the

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

BREEED
BREE LD

A

. FERETREBRWEE (&)

(b) REMETHNEBNES (&)
20224
Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
FRRITERK HERE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
3,174 25,931
7,448 (13,921)
— 3,639
— 597
— (222)
10,622 16,024
(c) HERESREMAEE
E+)\Iﬁimu§'§i§5"]%ﬁgiﬁﬁfﬁtﬂﬁ@
IR (I
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT THETT
1,013 762
12,955 13,921
13,968 14,683
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30.

180

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the
Group was not able to obtain the real estate ownership
certificates for two warehouses located in Mainland China
with costs of HK$653,000 and HK$601,000, respectively.
These two warehouses were fully depreciated in prior
years. As the Group completed the construction of the
relevant warehouses and commenced usage without
obtaining the necessary construction planning permit and
construction commencement permit prior to the
construction and did not complete the filing of the
necessary construction completion reports with the
relevant authorities, the Group may be requested by the
relevant authorities to demolish the construction and can
be subject to a maximum penalty amounting to
RMB1,321,000 (equivalent to HK$1,450,000) (2022:
RMB1,321,000 (equivalent to HK$1,477,000)). Having
considered the current practice of the relevant authorities
and the advice from the Group’s legal counsel, the
Directors believe that it is not probable that the relevant
authorities will impose the penalty. In addition, the
Directors considered the cost of demolishment of the two
warehouses is not material to the Group. Accordingly, no
provision for the relevant liability has been made.
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30. AREE

B 220224 KX2023F12A31H It F & -
AEBARERMEMLAPERNBHRE
(E B A 9 Bl A653,0005% 7T K%601,0007%
TR RREEEMBER  ZMmER
EERBEFERETE - ARAEE
EHBEETIYHBERA  REE
MELATEG RO ERTIRRE A E
NEETRBEIFAE  TRABHEE
BRRXMEBEHNIREE THRE UTKE
X EHEBHEERTREERAEEIFE
EAEEY VARIRSTSEARKE
1,321,0007T (& 71,450,0007% JT)
(20224 : A R #1,321,0007¢ (48 & »%
1,477,000 7)) - EE R BEBE RN E
ACERAEBZEZBMNERR &
EREEEAEREUASIZHKE K
AN BEER A E XM E A E /KA
HAEBUYAEKN - Bt - WEREHAE
BT IR -
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2023412 A31H
31. COMMITMENTS 31. &iE
The Group had the following contractual commitments at REERHEHERE T &K AE:

the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022

20235 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Property, plant and equipment Y BE REHE 3,946 14,209

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 EBBARS
(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and (@) BRZEMEHREREMADHFIIHN
balances detailed elsewhere in these financial R REREHRIN FAXREE
statements, the Group had the following BLAT R FIREAETHED
transactions with related parties based on terms BRETRS :
agreed with respective parties during the year:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Purchase of goods via a supply BERE=-HAHEHEBZ H?
chain service provider (note 1) R AL R AR e
engaged by a third party supplier & (M &F1) IRE & 10,432 —

Purchase of goods via a distributor 38— 7 $5 & (i 5£2)

(note 2) KEE M 1,593 -

Logistic and storage costs charged — R 2 f# & %077 AR 75 £ &

by a warehouse and logistics P& (B 5E3) Ye BR B9 ¥ 7
service provider (note 3) MERAKAR 63 -

Notes: B 7 -

1. The supply chain service provider engaged is a 1. ZEZBOHEERBEERAR
related company of a substantial shareholder of the ARG —BETERFH —KE@H
Company. NI

2. The distributor is a related company of a substantial 2. HNHAARARR—RIERRE
shareholder of the Company. B — XA A o

3. The warehouse and logistics service provider is a 3. HEWHEYRRSH V?ﬁ?‘%zﬁ’\
related company of a substantial shareholder of the Al—REERRN—KBH QA

Company.

Ap
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. MBARS (&)
(Continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel b) XEBXEEBEAENHM

of the Group

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHE T FHEIT

Short term employee benefits HEERAM 15,499 15,923

Post-employment benefits RRE 1R T 870 834

Total compensation paid to key MEZEBABLM

management personnel I 42 =8 16,369 16,757

Further details of directors’ remuneration are PR EEZFHINFES RN BREMN

disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements. T8I = o

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. €@ T H — ZEh &5

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBEEHER SESRTANEKEEE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period LN

are as follows:

Financial assets tRMEE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RBEALSIENEREE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Trade receivables g 5 WA 115,169 109,629
Financial assets included in ETATER IR - 2e R H A R
prepayments, deposits and RENEREE
other receivables 5,218 6,748
Cash and cash equivalents HehRESEFEED 253,752 189,789
374,139 306,166
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2023412 A31H
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. €@ I E — ®E3 &85 (&)

(Continued)
Financial liabilities ctREE
As at 31 December 2023 72023%F12831H
Derivative financial instruments T4 & @ T A 161 - 161
Trade payables B 5 kR - 63,360 63,360
Financial liabilities included in T AERT R R E b fE

accruals and other payables RREMNEREE - 35,604 35,604
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t & R 17 & % - 7,130 7,130
Lease liabilities HEEBE = 17,957 17,957

161 124,051 124,212

As at 31 December 2022 72022412 A31H
Derivative financial instruments T4 £ g T A 312 — 312
Trade payables B 5 R 5IE - 77,909 77,909
Financial liabilities included in FTAEERIE R E M E

accruals and other payables FREHNEHEE - 34,075 34,075
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &8 iR 17 & - 10,622 10,622
Lease liabilities HEAE - 16,024 16,024

312 138,630 138,942
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34.

184

FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, financial liabilities included in
accruals and other payables and interest-bearing bank
borrowings
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments or the effect of discounting is not material.

reasonably approximate to their carrying

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The
following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of deposits
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using the rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
Derivative financial instruments, including foreign currency
swaps, are measured using valuation techniques similar to
swap models, The
models incorporate various market observable inputs
including credit quality of counterparty and exchange
rates. The carrying amounts of the foreign currency
swaps are the same as their fair values.

using present value calculations.
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EMTANAIFERAFEER

BEEECHEEZEWFE FFAEN
IR ReEMRYFENSREE
RekReFEY BHEMARE A
EEREREMENRENEREER
ARRITEFRNAFEREFmESE
BE TEHRZETAHRRENE
BYEITEK

CRHEERBBENRAFENBRRSH
(RBHBFREERINEERNKX S A
RHEMZITELBAR - BUHFTAE
BEHHERREZEOT :

B IFHER D B R F{E - Ty AR
EERREAABFHHEENT AR AN
& FRBHRKRSREAESL -

AEBEBTHYEENCENEERLY
RITAIZTEERMIAGD - TES R
TA(BRHIEERALRARESE
FEBUEMEAGERNGE - %R
AMAZEMSABEREARE 21
RHHFNEEEL R REX - HME= H
BHMNEmMEEREE R FEMRR -
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31 December 2023

2023412 A31H
34. FAIR VALUES AND FAIR VALUE 4. eRMIANAFERAFEER
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy AFEER
There were no financial assets measured at fair value as R20224F N2023F12 A31H I £ LA A F
at 31 December 2022 and 2023. B ENSEEE-
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRHFALEESRTAN A FEGTE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: &4 :
Liabilities measured at fair value BRAFEFTENERE
Derivative financial fTEe@MIT A
instruments
As at 31 December 2023 720235
12A31H = 161 = 161
As at 31 December 2022 720224
12H31H — 312 — 312
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FRN - F-EBEHF_EsHRAMREERA
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no FEFE BE-ZENEEARLELS
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets BMEERSBEE (2022F | &) -

and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).
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35.

186

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash
and cash equivalents, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and lease liabilities. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to finance the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents and interest-bearing
bank borrowings with floating interest rates. Management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate bank borrowings and
cash and cash equivalents).

HK$ 78T
HK$ BT
RMB AR
RMB AR
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35.

BHEEAREEEFEREE

AEENTESRTIARERE KA S
EZBY ERITERLREEEE - %F
i\%ﬂIEZEREE@ﬁE‘i$%.E@ B
EITHLE -

BEASENSRIAEEEANTIZARR
A= @ 9“%“ EERBR KRB E
TRk -BEFg 'JL]IIT:‘T;R AMUAT PR
TE%LZE‘:EERIEJ—L 2 Y IR

A = [ b
FMERERE-"EHERIANRKRESR
BRREARMIBSHN EEEH MK - A&
EEENMSNREPHAMERENE
EReMBReSEMREEFFERITE
REH - EREEANXHO TEES
EREREIMEANXER -

TRHEAEME L P BESTEER
T AREBRBAKFLAHENART
B 6 BY 0 GRS (3 3B YT 8 SR 4T 5 3R A
ERERRSSENNYE) -

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points

Increase/(decrease)
in profit before tax

BEE LA

(RFE)  BREAD & F 48
2023
2023
HK$°000

TERT

O 4)

2022
20224
HK$’000
FAET

50 149 37
(149)
50 145

(145)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. AR EEEERKE(Z)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases by
operating units
functional currencies. The majority of the Group’s foreign
currency purchase transactions are denominated in US
dollar (“US$”). On the other hand, the Group’s sales and
disbursements are mainly denominated in HK$ and RMB.
As HKS$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not anticipate
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate and
the corresponding exposure on foreign currency risk is not
material.

in currencies other than the unit’s

The Group’s risk management principles with regard to its
foreign currency denominated monetary assets, liabilities,
commitments, and cash flows is to match as far as
possible the values of such assets and cash flows against
similarly denominated liabilities and cash flows. Decisions
on either holding net short or long positions in foreign
currency denominated monetary assets or liabilities are
taken on case-by-case basis and by taking into
consideration the amount and duration of the expenses,
market volatility, economic trends and requirements of the
business.

" =FFH

S H5 L B

AEFBRAGRZEEKRR ZERART
EHNEEEUNAENREEE NI 2 E
BETEEMESL AKBEAXHOINE
RBXZGUAET(ETDFAE-Z—7
| AKRENHEHERIHENEERET
RARBHE R B TEIXTHE
AEBEBEMETHETHERL AEH
REREE - HEM RN R I
EPNL

REBHUIMEAENERBEE - 8F -
EEREeRENRREERR  5F
ErkzEEELR R REEBBLUGE
MEBEEMRERENEE REBEFINE
AAENEBREERRETAFEREX
HRERE  DREARERL A
M ceB MR  Tm5KE  EES8
EREBHBERMMEDL -

RABEEBEZERERAR 187



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

B % AR Y & ()

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

35.

188

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the Euro (“EUR”), Swiss Franc (“SFR”) and RMB exchange
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax.

If HK$ weakens against EUR mEa BT BT E
If HK$ strengthens against EUR it & % 7T 1 B T FHE
If HK$ weakens against SFR fmE BT in B E

If HK$ strengthens against SFR fifi & & 7T 3%, ¥ BE FH &

If HK$ weakens against RMB WEBLLARKE
A

If HK$ strengthens against RMB i & /& 7T 5 A R #&
&
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35. KEBEEREERBE(E)

SN LB (AE)
TREINBEMREFEHEHBEES

#8150 T - AN 58 B 0 B Bt 1
BT (TBRTT)) 3R BB (B 85 )) R A

REEXNSEAIEEHNHRE -
Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/(decrease)
exchange rate in profit before tax
HEEEAS
(N E&) BR B A 0% R 18 0O &)
2023 2022
2023 2022%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
5% 79 549
(5)% (79) (549)
5% (266) 265
5)% 266 (265)
5% 62 99
(5)% (62) (99)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. FEREREEEERBE (&

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023

Trade receivables* 2 P rWHIE =
Financial assets included in HABEMZE RS
prepayments, deposits and R fth fE Y 500

other receivables — normal" WA BEE —

FERRE
AEBEERRUTEEERINE=7
ETRS - ARBEBRERTE  FTEREE
EMETRINER HEARIEER
BERRF o MO AEEFEEREWFOR
e WEmMHBRAREEKRAR -

B AR R FRE TR

TRINTREASENGEERRENEER
EELBEERRIIEHEOZARRE
TEZEUNEBEHNERABKE BRIEFHM
EXMMEBAFTRBEZRNAKE ) UKk
R12A3TEHMFE RS R -EE2EBRESEA
MNemEERBTMARE -

R2023F 12H31H

- - 126,252 126,252

TE 5,218 = = = 5,218
Cash and cash equivalents RBekBeZEEY 253,752 - - - 253,752
258,970 = = 126,252 385,222
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35.

190

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022

12-month
ECLs
128 A T8 5
FEBA
Stage 1
E
HK$'000
TAET
Trade receivables* B 5 RN FIE -
Financial assets included in BUNEGES-REi &
prepayments, deposits and Rt JE M5B
other receivables — normal'  H4BEE —
TE 6,748
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 189,789
196,537
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 16.

" The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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35. KEBEEREERBE(E)

EERK(EZ)
RABEBRELA TR (E)
Ro022412 31 H

Lifetime ECLs

2HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
& EF=R R bz @

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TR TRT TET TR

- - 119,445 119,445

- 6,748
- 189,789

- - 119,445 315,982

* BARBERABEREENE S EKK
B E - REBEBEEEMGFHERR
B 164 5 -

" FTATAN IR - 25 M E M E WA R
TREENEEERTEHARAN B
BEENBTEREENEERREVS
HERARKEIE MBS RRABIER] B
AleRMEENEEIRRRAIRE] -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BRREEREERBEK(Z)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty. As at the end of the reporting
period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk
as 15% (2022: 13%) and 46% (2022: 41%) of the
Group’s total trade
Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors,
respectively.

receivables were due from the

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate
funds to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer terms. In the management of liquidity risk, the
Group has been maintaining a cash pooling system where
excess liquidity internally through
inter-group accounts. Depending on the specific
requirements of each funding agreement, funding for the
Group’s operating companies may be sourced directly
from the Group’s bankers or indirectly through the
Company.

is centralised

" =FFH

EERR(E)
BABBRFERH DR (E)
HRAASEBERLRATAEERKENE
_FLHX% PIAEFEMSR - EES

hERTRERE/HFTER  RREH
MR AEEE-—ENEESTER

DR A15% (20224 : 13% ) K46% (2022
F M%) DEBAEEFELEN R

REBARBKREBAHFIE -

BERAKEXREESERUKANEER
BREE - P ERE RBEMBKEH

fi S 164% B o

RBE<ER

AEENEERBREXRCES UM
HERALRARHESERK - REER
PETER AEE-—BEHEFRE LR
o BEBEERRREERPRAMFEY
PEFGBORDES -RFBZESWH
MEARBZRME AREHNZERAA
EERASENERRITHBEEBA
NABMEER -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 MBERAKBEEEERBEK(A)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nEBEERRE)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at REEHRREAEEERABRESHR
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ARIR T RA B BB R AT o

undiscounted payments, is as follows.

31 December 2023 20234 12H31H

Trade payables 2 5 RIE 63,360 - - 63,360
Financial liabilities A A RUIA K
included in accruals  Eth fB {4 3k 1E
and other payables ReEmaE 35,604 - - 35,604
Interest-bearing bank & 8 8 17 18 3
borrowings 7,130 = = 7,130
Lease liabilities HERE 3,179 5,080 11,489 19,748
109,273 5,080 11,489 125,842
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B % AR B R ()

31 December 2023

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is required to comply with certain externally
imposed capital in certain
banking facility letters. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

requirements as set out

" =FFH

2023412 A31H
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. XEBREEEERBKE (&)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRM(EZ)
31 December 2022 20224 12531H
On demand/
Less than 3 to 12 More than
3 months months 1 year Total
REk,/
3@ A ™A 3Z12{8 A Z 1 E &5t
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAETT FET FET
Trade payables 2 5 A BR 77,909 — — 77,909
Financial liabilities AR RIE R
included in accruals H b & 5008
and other payables MeraE 34,075 — - 34,075
Interest-bearing bank T B R 1THE X
borrowings 10,622 - - 10,622
Lease liabilities HEBE 3,039 8,603 4,842 16,484
125,645 8,603 4,842 139,090
Capital management EXER

AEEEREANEZAEREREAS
BEERHEZE UHTREEARAL XN
XFEEBLEERSKRREE-

AEEBEBHEEALEE WRELERK
MOEHREBEENRRFHEHE
TR - BEFIARELRER  ~5E
AREeFAEXNTRENRE - MKRRER
BREBARLBITHRG - AEBE/HESE
A TRITRBE RAAENSE THNEBHEM
B & KN EE o B £2023%F K20229F12 A
SIBLEFETEHUEREEANER K
RRBBEEHEE o
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35 MBEMREEEEREEKE)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management (Continued) EXREE (&)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AEEFREABGBL X (NG ERITHE
the ratio of interest-bearing bank borrowings to total HEBRRERBENLER)ERER R
shareholders’ equity. Total shareholders’ equity comprises HESPELESRAER A EIL A
all components of equity attributable to owners of the MEHER AEENBEKAEBELRE
parent. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio BLLEEFREEKTE - RFEFHRD
at a reasonable level. The gearing ratios as at the end of ERABELEERAT

the reporting periods were as follows:

2023 2022

2023F 20224

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings & 8 R 1T &K 7,130 10,622
Total equity attributable to owners NAEB AR EERE

of the parent 590,436 575,236

Gearing ratio EXRBELE 1.2% 1.8%
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THE COMPANY

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

Deposit

Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and deposits

Due from subsidiaries
Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accruals
Lease liabilities

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (note)

Total equity

FRBEE
ME - BB L&
BrE

RHBARNHEA
R DA B
RBEE

B RARES
B 23

A Yy Bt R
ReRRLEEN
R & E R
RBAE

8t $0R
BEEE
RBAELE

RBEERE

REERRBER

ERBEE
HERE

BEFE
&=

EETEAR
feé 48 (BT AE)

1L

aT
N
LK
N
CRE

36. A< 1 B Y BF B AR R &

AR AR RS R B A AR R B R

M

2023
2023
HK$’000
FERT

4,620
296
78,563

83,479

183
341,641
151
2,816

344,791

2,020
1,525

3,545

341,246

424,725

3,114

421,611

72,073
349,538

421,611

A

2022
20224
HK$’000
FHET

1,534
290
78,563

80,387

31
356,051
4

2,753

358,839

1,789
1,581

3,370

365,469

435,856

435,856

72,073
363,783

435,856
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. A2 Bl Bk R K (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5E -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AArfEEBOBERT :

At 1 January 2022 202251 A1H 215,402 123,578 44,204 383,184

Total comprehensive income for 4 & & W A 4258

the year — — 18,510 18,510
Dividends % 8 - — (37,911) (37,911)
At 31 December 2022 and #R2022F12 A31H

at 1 January 2023 }2023%F1A1H 215,402 123,578 24,803 363,783

Total comprehensive income for & & 2 UK A 4258

the year - - 14,800 14,800
Dividends s\ - - (29,045) (29,045)
At 31 December 2023 2023512 A31H 215,402 123,578 10,558 349,538

37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 37. R 5 #Hi#& =18

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a special REREEIR%E - BR2024F2816H TR
dividend of HK13.87 cents per ordinary share totalling 5 R A% B B R R AR 13.87 5 (L B 102024
approximately HK$100,000,000, was declared on 16 FIA1HIRT - 2849 /100,000,0007%8
February 2024. It was paid on 11 March 2024. JC °

On 20 February 2024, the sale of assets classified as 202452 F20H  LA17.2B &8 T H IR
held for sale for a cash consideration of HK$17.2 million CRELEENDEABIEFHENEED T
was completed and resulted in a gain on disposal of K- WEEHERZHI1246B8E T -

approximately HK$12.4 million.

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 38. #tEB ;| K
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised B SRR 2024 F3 A28 H EE =T #H &
for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024, N R F) 3% o
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Five Year Financial Summary

TEHBEHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out
below.

A SUMMARY OF RESULTS

2023
20234
(HK$’000)
(F#&x)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS #F@EEe %5
REVENUE B A 728,930
Cost of sales 3B KA (488,377)
Gross profit EF 240,553
Other income and gains, net  HE M A Rz 558 5,937
Selling and distribution HERDHRAX
expenses (102,829)
General and administrative —BERTEEX
expenses (79,328)
Other expenses, net H A 3 F 58 (4,295)
Finance costs RN (1,040)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FROM #EZ & £ KRB A
CONTINUING &= A
OPERATIONS 58,998
Income tax expense FTE X (10,287)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BESEEBNER
FROM CONTINUING &= A
OPERATIONS 48,711
DISCONTINUED BERIEREER
OPERATIONS
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM E XA IIREXKER
DISCONTINUED BB
OPERATIONS -
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEREF 48,711

AEBRBERABAVBRFENREANEE -
BENMIEEEEHE (HEEE T EEEX
FBRRILELEEEIEH ) &I

—|? o
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31B L EE
2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204 20194
(HK$’'000) (HK$’'000) (HK$’'000) (HK$’000)
(F#&L) (F&1) (F&7x) (FE7T)
695,938 766,793 638,507 784,998
(461,176) (467,815) (375,453) (475,166)
234,762 298,978 263,054 309,832
11,252 2,216 15,491 5,127
(104,437) (118,561) (107,223) (115,863)
(79,237) (77,215) (74,261) (79,204)
(4,209) (3,958) (3,841) (5,104)
(892) (864) (1,441) (3,509)
57,239 100,596 91,779 111,279
(9,815) (20,352) (14,982) (21,466)
47,424 80,244 76,797 89,813
— — — (12,523)
47,424 80,244 76,797 77,290
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Five Year Financial Summary (continued)

LFMBRE (&)

A SUMMARY OF RESULTS (Continued)

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Profit for the year from
continuing operations
Loss for the year from
discontinued operations

Profit for the year

Non-controlling interests
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations

Profit for the year
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021 2020
20224 20214 2020%F
(HK$'000)  (HK$'000)  (HK$'000)
(F#&T) (F#&T) (F#&T)
47,424 80,244 76,797
47,424 80,244 76,797
47,424 80,244 76,797

2019
20194
(HK$’000)
(F&7T)

89,813

(14,335)

75,478

1,812

1,812

77,290
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of
the parent

Non-controlling interests
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2023
2023F
(HK$°000)
(F#&x)

217,654
517,463
(125,926)
391,537

(18,755)
590,436

590,436

590,436

EERAERE

As at 31 December

2022
20224
(HK$’000)
(F#&T)

212,717
517,854
(143,264)
374,590

(12,071)
575,236

575,236

575,236

M12831A8
2021
20214
(HK$'000)
(F&T)

182,278
580,168
(152,707)
427 461
(21,219)
588,520

588,520

588,520

2020
20204F
(HK$'000)
(F&7x)

162,020
522,720
(121,485)
401,235

(10,752)
552,503

552,503

552,503

2019
20194
(HK$’000)
(F&7T)

165,632
572,871
(169,764)
403,107
(19,004)
549,735

549,735

549,735
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

EEHEEER

As at and for the year ended 31 December
M12A3ME R EE12A31BLFE

2023
20234
Profitability ratios BRgE =
Return on equity 1 %5 O] 3RO 8.3%
Return on assets? & E B ;@ 6.6%
Liquidity ratios REBESLL X
Current ratio® ) &) 4.1
Quick ratio® B RO 3.1
Capital adequacy ratios X A&ZFELL=
Gearing ratio® BEEBELERO 1.2%
Net cash to equity ratio® IR & HEEREZR
Lt e 41.8%

Notes:

1)

200

Return on equity represents profit for the year attributable to
owners of the parent as a percentage of equity attributable to
owners of the parent as of the end of the same year.

Return on assets represents profit for the year as a percentage
of total assets as of the end of the same period.

Current ratio is equal to current assets divided by current liabilities
as of the end of the year.

Quick ratio equals current assets less inventories divided by
current liabilities as of the end of the year.

Gearing ratio equals total debt divided by equity attributable to
owners of the parent. Total debt represents interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

Net cash to equity ratio equals net cash divided by equity
attributable to owners of the parent at the end of the year. Net
cash represents cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing
bank borrowings.
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2022 2021 2020 2019
20224 20214 20204 20194
8.2% 13.6% 13.9% 13.7%
6.5% 10.5% 11.2% 10.5%
3.6 3.8 4.3 3.4
2.2 2.7 3.3 2.6
1.8% 0.5% 2.2% 4.8%
31.1% 45.7% 47.9% 52.6%
=

HEaEmETG AR A ARG FEENRE
FREBARHEBABRERENALD -

BENREFEENERBPREELENT
DL e

MBLELERERFRORDEERARD B

f& -

BB EBERFROREEERTERIA
mBAIE -

BERBUEXAERNEBEBE AT ARE
BARGEHER B EREFTERITER

ReFB R XEERFRNESIFER
NERARHEEAELRES R FEERS
RBREFEYRBRITER



TWG

Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited
REREBZERBRAST

(Incorporated under the laws of Bermuda with limited liability)
(RIEBFELFIEMRLNBRLR)
Stock Code BR7L3% : 2119
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